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Co-operative Housing Ireland is the national organisation representing, promoting 
and developing co-operative housing in Ireland. Since our foundation in 1973 we 
have provided nearly 6,500 homes through home-ownership, shared ownership 
and social rented co-operatives. With our membership of democratically controlled 
local co-operatives, we now manage close to 3,500 homes across Ireland as well as 
providing a network of childcare services in our communities.

As one of the leading national voices for co-operation 

in Ireland we collaborate with other co-operative 

organisations to promote our model. We are members of 

the Community and Voluntary Pillar of Social Partnership 

and participate in numerous forums on housing and social 

policy. Internationally, we are members of Housing Europe 

and the International Co-operative Alliance, including its 

sector groups; Cooperatives Europe and Co-operative 

Housing International. 

Co-operative Housing Ireland is an Approved Housing Body 

under section 6 of the Housing Miscellaneous Provisions 

Act 1992. It is accountable to the Voluntary Regulation 

Code for Approved Housing Bodies and is regulated as 

a Tier 3 larger Approved Housing Body. The Society is a 

registered charity and has signed the Governance Code for 

voluntary and charitable organisations. 

About us

Mission
Our mission is to lead the 
development of social, economic and 
environmental sustainability in Ireland 
through co-operative effort and the 
provision of co-operative housing in 
particular. 

Vision
Our vision is of an Ireland where 
everyone has the option to participate 
fully in their own and the wider 
community social, economic and 
environmental development through 
co-operation.
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Co-operative
identity, values
and principles

Voluntary and Open Membership 

Co-operatives are voluntary 

organisations, open to anyone  

able to use their services and 

willing to accept the responsibilities 

of membership, without gender, 

social, racial, political or religious 

discrimination. 

Democratic Member Control 

Co-operatives are democratic 

organisations controlled by their 

members, who actively participate 

in setting their policies and making 

decisions.  

Member Economic Participation 

Members contribute equitably to, and 

democratically control, the capital of 

their co-operative. 

Autonomy and Independence 

Co-operatives are autonomous, 

self-help organisations controlled 

by their members. If they enter into 

agreements with other organisations, 

including governments, or raise capital 

from external sources, they do so on 

terms that ensure democratic control 

by their members and maintain their 

co-operative autonomy. 

Education, Training and Information 

Co-operatives provide education and 

training for their members, elected 

representatives, managers, and 

employees so they can contribute 

effectively to the development of their 

co-operatives.  

They inform the general public – 

particularly young people and opinion 

leaders – about the nature and 

benefits of co-operation.

Co-operation among Co-operatives 

Co-operatives serve their members 

most effectively and strengthen the 

co-operative movement by working 

together through local, national, 

regional and international structures. 

Concern for Community 

Co-operatives work for the sustainable 

development of their communities 

through policies approved by their 

members. 

Definition
A co-operative is an autonomous association of persons united voluntarily to meet their common economic, social, and 

cultural needs and aspirations through a jointly-owned and democratically-controlled enterprise. 

Values
Co-operatives are based on the values of self-help, self-responsibility, democracy, equality, equity and solidarity. In the 

tradition of their founders, co-operative members believe in the ethical values of honesty, openness, social responsibility 

and caring for others.

Principles
The co-operative principles are guidelines by which co-operatives put their values into practice. 
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The Coronavirus disease, first reported in late February 2020, has left a 
permanent mark on our lives and while the end is in sight, we remember 
all those who have died. I would like to express my sympathies to  
the thousands of families, in particular Co-operative Housing 
Ireland (CHI) Members, who have lost loved ones.

Our ability to adapt to the pandemic is testament to our 

organisation’s capacity to deliver quality homes, maintain 

an uninterrupted service to Members, as well as keeping 

our Childcare Services open. 

Globally governments devised solutions to manage the 

spread of the virus and implemented widespread closures 

across offices and non-essential services to protect those 

at risk. Housing and therefore the work of Co-operative 

Housing Ireland (CHI) is an essential service. To that end, we 

quickly adapted to the changing environment presented by 

Covid-19. It is a credit to CHI’s Board, staff, and management 

team that the impact on Member services was minimised 

through this challenging time. 

Affordability and access to secure homes came into focus 

during the 2020. The importance of home during the 

pandemic became more and more evident. Home is our 

refuge, our place of work and study. The pandemic further 

highlighted that the only guaranteed affordable-rented 

homes in Ireland are provided by local authorities, housing 

associations, and housing co-operatives.  

2020 was a record year for CHI delivering 454 new 

homes, a 20 per cent increase in output compared to the 

previous year. I am sure that, like me, you are pleased and 

very proud that our organisation is making a significant 

contribution to the delivery of truly affordable family 

homes.

In December we held an official opening of 69 homes in 

Brookhill, Carrigaline, Co. Cork attended by An Taoiseach, 

Micheál Martin, Cllr Seamus McGrath representing Mary 

Linehan Foley, Mayor of the County of Cork, and key 

stakeholders. The event, which took place under strict 

Covid-19 protocols, showcased the quality of homes being 

provided by CHI. Receiving national attention the event 

focused on the impact that these homes were having on 

the lives of our Members.

Other significant developments during the year included 

56 additional homes in the Hazelbrook development 

in Rathnew, Co Wicklow, and phase one, 46 homes, in 

Mungret, Co Limerick.

Despite the impact of Covid-19, our childcare programmes 

remained in high demand throughout 2020, all services 

continued to provide Early Years Childcare Programmes in 

the mornings and School-Aged Childcare in the afternoons 

to 162 children (75% capacity) across the three services.  

Towards the latter half of the year, greater focus was placed 

on supporting members and highlighting their experiences 

during the pandemic. Several Member events took place 

including the Board Skills Training Programme which 

had a record 18 participants. This programme is part of 

our commitment to developing co-operative leadership 

amongst our members. 

CHI ran ‘No Place like Home’, a campaign that looked at the 

importance of home and community. No Place like Home 

featured Members’ stories about their previous experience 

of precarious housing.  In general, Members despite Covid, 

felt very secure and happy with their CHI home. This sense 

of contentment was echoed in the result of our national 

survey of Members conducted by Amárach Research.

The full impact of Covid-19 in the delivery of homes will be 

more acute in the next year or two. We face considerable 

challenges due to increased costs associated with BREXIT 

and the pandemic’s impact on the construction sector 

which was closed for several months. However, we 

understand the importance of partnership and will work 

with all stakeholders to meet these challenges ahead.

Report from the Chairperson

June 2021

454

2020 
at a Glance 

homes 
delivered

9,192€111.2m
loan funding drawn 
down in 2020 for 
developments

people living  
in CHI homes

€70.64m

Housing 
Finance Agency

€21.40m

Capital Advance 
Leasing Facility 
(CALF)

€19.16m
Bank of Ireland

19%

17%

64%

Loan Funding 2020
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The committee of management, (“the Board of Management” or "the Board”), 
present their report and the audited financial statements for Co-operative Housing 
Ireland Society Limited ("Co-operative Housing Ireland”) for the year ended  
31 December 2020.

Co-operative Housing Ireland’s Objectives

• To carry on for the benefit of the community 

the provision and management of housing and 

associated amenities. 

• To provide for the relief of poverty and deprivation 

caused by poor housing conditions or other social 

and economic circumstances through mutual aid 

based on the co-operative organisational principles. 

We aim to achieve these objectives by being actively 

involved in the organisation, planning, and financing 

of new co-operative housing developments, the 

promotion of good governance in the management 

of co-operative housing societies and the delivery of 

quality housing and associated services for members 

and their communities. As the national representative 

organisation, representing, promoting, and developing 

the co-operative housing movement in Ireland we 

further progress these objectives.

Co-operative Housing Ireland’s Results and 
operational review for the year

Co-operative Housing Ireland continues to make 

progress in achieving its strategic plan. This year 454 

(compared to 371 in 2019) new homes were provided 

throughout Ireland highlighting CHI’s increased 

development activity. Services to members continue 

to improve, particularly in the area of engagement and 

geographical reach. Organisationally, our capacity has 

increased with the hiring of 17 new staff members, and 

we had a record number of people participate in our 

Board Skills Training Programme (18).

Operationally, despite the threat of Covid-19 housing 

delivery targets were exceeded, rent arrears reduced 

and there was an increase in operating surplus 

compared to 2019 (€9,294,347 compared to €6,982,456). 

This was primarily due to the increase in homes 

provided but also due to additional funding costs. The 

net surplus for the year was €4,230,053 (compared to 

€3,913,277 in 2019).

We maintained our high occupancy rate at 97.4% (2019: 

97.96%) with rent loss due to voids at 0.61% or €53,463 

(2019 0.94% or €69,503).  

The childcare services were subsidised in 2020 by way 

of Covid-19 Government financial supports.

Board  
of Management’s 
Report
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CHI’s Strategy is reviewed annually and a yearly Business Plan developed to support 
the operational implementation of the Strategy.

The CEO reports regularly to the Board on progress on 

the implementation of the strategy through the business 

planning process.

Co-operative Housing Ireland’s leading role in 

housing delivery was reconfirmed during the year by 

recertification for lending from the Housing Finance 

Agency.

Our five-year strategic plan commits the organisation 

to making progress on five key goals. Some of our 

main achievements in 2020 in relation to each goal are 

outlined below.

Given the challenges of Covid-19 and Brexit we believe 

that we have made considerable progress in realising 

these goals and that 2020 was a very successful year for 

Co-operative Housing Ireland. 

Strategy  
Report

• 454 homes delivered in the year

• Sustainable homes – majority BER A-rated

• Continued shift to larger housing projects

• 4 new Co-operative members, Doras, Avoca, Boyne, and Curragh

• Further funding in partnership with Pillar Bank

• 35% reduction in rent arrears

• 28 community projects and events

• National Members’ Survey

• New Members’ Handbook

• National Stock Survey

• Appointment of Member Engagement Manager

• Two deep retrofit projects including funding from the  

 Sustainable Energy Authority of Ireland

• Encouraged members to support each other during the pandemic

• Childcare services continued throughout the pandemic 

  providing a service to children of frontline workers

• 18 Member participants on the Board Skills Training Programme

• Election of new CHI Board Members

• Special General Meeting to allow for virtual meetings as a result  

 of Covid-19  

• Significantly strengthened membership of Board sub-committees

• Business Continuity despite the Covid Pandemic

• Increase in CHI staffing number to 87

• Successful return made to the Housing Regulator

• Stronger financial metrics and the creation of a Designated Reserve

• Ongoing IT system upgrades

• Campaign on the importance of co-operative homes

• Major housing development launch with An Taoiseach,  

 Micheál Martin

• Presentation to political party

• Participation in national and international forums on  

 co-operative, 

 housing, and community issues

• Greatly increased presence on social media

Goal 1 
Growing  
co-operative  
housing

Goal 2 
Building 
sustainable  
co-operative  
communities

Goal 3
Developing  
co-operative  
leadership 

Goal 4
Raising our 
 own capacity

Goal 5
Leading the  
co-operative  
movement 

Strategic Goals 
2021–2024

Key Achievements  
2020
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Leinster 
199

Connacht
19

Munster  
236

Homes 
delivered 
in 2020

Record number of homes delivered by  
Co-operative Housing Ireland in 2020

The pandemic has had a dramatic impact on 

every sector especially considering the demands 

that pre-existed the outbreak of Covid-19. 

Increasing supply to meet housing needs, 

the provision of affordable housing solutions 

for those most in need, and the sustainability 

of quality housing stock into the future will 

require a dedicated and steady contribution 

from organisations like Co-operative Housing 

Ireland. We have strived to significantly increase 

our output to respond to these needs and 

investigated new approaches to facilitate larger 

contributions to housing stock, such as taking on 

larger housing projects in an area to consolidate 

workload while keeping delivery high. Hazelwood 

Rise in Rathnew Co. Wicklow is an example of this 

approach. These new ways of growing our stock 

will ultimately enable CHI to achieve our mission 

to support people to meet their housing needs. 

We work with all groups in society, all ages, and 

all geographies to create vibrant communities of 

homes where people want to live.

Growing 
Co-operative
Housing

2020 was another record year for Co-operative Housing Ireland, with the highest 
number of homes delivered by the organisation to date. CHI delivered a total of 
454 new homes throughout Ireland in Wexford, Offaly, Carlow, Dublin, Clare, Cork, 
Limerick, Kerry, Wicklow, Laois, and Galway. This accounted for a 22% increase in 
delivery versus 2019, and an almost 139% increase over a three-year period when 
compared to 2017. 

190
245 371

4542017
2018

2019 2020

Homes delivered 2017 - 2020
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Leinster
CHI delivered 199 homes in Leinster during 2020, accounting for almost 44 per 
cent of the organisation’s output. 

CHI delivered homes in four sites in Carlow (57), three in Kildare (43), Wicklow (56), Laois (18), Dublin 

(12), Wexford (11) and Offaly (2). 

Carlow

57
Homes

Wicklow

56
Homes

Kildare

43 
Homes

Laois

18 
Homes

Dublin

12 
Homes

Apartments   40

Houses 159

Total 199

Leinster
Homes delivered in 2020

Wexford

11
Homes

Offaly

2
Homes
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Maple Park, Rivercourt 
Carlow, a development 
of 28 homes just 
outside the heart of 
Carlow town.

We learned about housing co-operatives through the 

local authorities here in Co. Carlow. They put us forward 

for consideration as we were on their waiting list to 

move. We were living in a private house on the Rental 

Accommodation Scheme (RAS) before here. Under RAS, 

the local authorities drew up a contract with our landlord. 

The local authority paid the rent directly to the landlord  

and we paid our contributions to the local authority. 

We are delighted with the move as we have security of 

tenure here. It’s our forever home. In our last place, the 

landlord might have decided to sell up at any time and  

then we would have to look for another place.  

Unfortunately, we also received a lot of anti-social behaviour 

from a neighbour of ours in our last home too. There was 

very little that could be done about this behaviour as the 

person was a homeowner. CHI have made it clear to us that 

this type of behaviour will not be tolerated in Maple Park, 

and they take those kinds of issues very seriously. 

So, there is a sense of safety and security here that we did 

not have before. We are looking forward to life in our new 

place.” 

Maple Park, Rivercourt Carlow 

In Carlow, four quality new estates came on board throughout the county. CHI 
worked directly with local authorities in Carlow to identify and respond to the 
housing needs within the county.  One such estate delivered was Maple Park, 
Rivercourt. Maple Park is a development of 28 two-bed, three-bed, and four-bed 
dwellings just outside the heart of Carlow town.  We spoke to new Member Emma 
Liebherr about moving into her new home in Maple Park.  

We’re really  
happy with  
the move”  
– Emma Liebherr, Maple Park Carlow 

Emma Liebherr and her family moved into their new home in Maple Park which was completed in 2020 recently.

" I live with my partner and our daughter in a three-bed semi-detached house in 
Maple Park. Our new home has a fantastic back garden which is lovely for our 
daughter to play in. Everything is on our doorstep here, we live within walking 
distance of shops, schools, the park and our GAA club which has exercise facilities. 
The local church and the shopping centre are also nearby. We’re really happy with 
the move. Maple Park is a quiet place where it’s safe for kids to play which means a 
lot to us. Our neighbours are very friendly, and you can tell there’s a nice sense of 
community here.
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Hazelwood Rise, Rathnew, Co. Wicklow
Taking on larger projects has enabled CHI to consolidate the workload involved 
in the organisation’s pipeline by keeping delivery numbers high but reducing 
the number of sites.  One such larger project was Hazelwood Rise, Rathnew, Co. 
Wicklow, a development of 144 A3-rated new homes on one site.  Phase two of 
Hazelbrook Rise comprised of 56 homes and was delivered in 2020 by Gerry 
McGreevy Construction. The delivery of the estate was made possible through 
a lending partnership between CHI and Bank of Ireland Corporate Banking. 
Hazelwood Rise comprises a mix of duplexes, apartments, and houses. 

Hazelwood Rise, Rathnew, 
Co. Wicklow, an estate of 144 
A-rated homes. Phase 2 of the 
site was completed by CHI 
during 2020. 

Cork 
71 

Homes

Kerry
65

Homes

Tipperary
7

Homes

Clare
45

Homes

Limerick
48

Homes

Munster
2020 proved to be a fruitful year for CHI’s output in Munster, with 236 homes 
delivered across the region accounting for just under 52 of the organisation’s total 
delivery. 

Most of the homes delivered in the region were houses. Cork was the county which featured the 

largest growth with 71 new homes coming on board, followed by Kerry (65), Limerick (48), Clare (45) 

and Tipperary (7). 

Apartments       6

Houses 230

Total 236

Munster
Homes delivered in 2020
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A key factor to our success in housing provision has been identifying and addressing 
the housing needs in a particular area. Over the course of 2020, CHI identified several 
areas across the Munster with the support of local authorities. The suitability of an 
area, the availability of sites, and, most importantly, the proximity of services that our 
Members will need are of paramount importance when considering a new project.

Cork had the highest number of houses delivered by CHI in 
the Munster Region. We were delighted to have Taoiseach 
Micheál Martin launch Brookhill, an estate of 69 family homes 
in Carrigaline on 7th December 2020. The A-rated homes were 
made possible through partnership with Cork County Council, 
the Housing Finance Agency, the Department of Housing, Local 
Government and Heritage, and Homeland Group.  
Picture: David Clynch

Each household in Baunacloka heights  

will be a member of the Ralahine Housing Co-operative. 

New Members were encouraged to get in contact with the 

Ralahine Board and explore possible activities in their area. 

One such new Member is Sharon Keogh. We spoke to her 

about life in her new home. 

"Our new place is a three-bedroom house with a sunroom. 

There’s really no comparison between our new place 

and where we were living.  It’s very warm and a lot more 

spacious than where we were. I’d some teething issues 

with understanding the heating but my neighbour gave 

me a few pointers, so I’m all set now. The last place we 

lived in was very cold – you could feel the cold air coming 

in through the windows. We were there for eight years in 

total on the RAS scheme with the local council. 

This new house is only about five minutes away from 

there, so we’re very familiar with the area. The estate itself 

is very nice. They’ve lined out some Acer Trees that they’re 

going to plant along the avenue which will make the drive 

in very nice. 

I have two children, a son, and a daughter. My son is 21 and 

the eldest. He has extra needs so he’s living full time with 

me. He has more space here than in the last place which is 

great. My daughter is 17 and in her fifth year in secondary 

school. She really enjoyed doing her schoolwork at 

home full time but is back in school now which was a bit 

overwhelming after such a long stint at home. It’s a very 

big school of about 900 so you can imagine. On the 

plus side she can get more support from teachers there. 

Luckily, a friend of hers has moved in about five doors 

down from us. It will be great for them both to have a 

friend on the doorstep”.  

Baunacloka 
Heights, 
Mungret Gate  
in Co. Limerick

Baunacloka Heights is an estate of 46, three-
bedroom homes delivered by CHI in Mungret 
Gate, Co. Limerick

Baunacloka Heights, Mungret in Co. Limerick is one such new estate that was 
developed and delivered by CHI to meet the housing needs in Limerick. Baunacloka 
Heights is an estate of 46 A-rated two and three-bedroom homes. The estate is close 
to rural amenities and established communities with schools and retail services 
nearby. Public bus transport is provided to the city centre, and the estate benefits 
from the amenities provided by proximity to the city.  

– Sharon Keogh, resident of Baunacloka Heights, 
Mungret, Limerick

"There’s really no comparison 
between our new place and 
where we were living”
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Our relationship with CHI began when we developed 

Brookhill, Carrigaline Co. Cork, a development of 69 family 

homes. We also worked with them on Baunacloka Heights, 

Mungret Gate, Limerick an estate of 46 homes. We were 

delighted to close both estates in 2020. The advantage of 

working with an organisation such as CHI is twofold: you 

are dealing with an experienced organisation who have 

provided housing solutions for many decades, but also you 

have a closed end contract where you are guaranteed that 

the homes you have developed will all be bought. Working 

with CHI ensures more funding opportunities and better 

rates on loans. Access to funding in this way is essential to 

support housing delivery at this level”.

Gleann Cora is an estate of three-bed semi-detached and detached 
homes developed by CHI in response to housing needs in the 
Shannon area. It is located within 1km of the town centre, 650m from 
the local church and 300m from the local GAA club.

– Neil Collins, Managing Director of the Homeland Group, the developers behind 
Brookhill and Baunacloka Heights, discusses housing development in Ireland.

"Location is everything”

"The most important thing when considering a new 

housing project is feasibility. Location is everything. There 

needs to be a housing need where you are intending to 

build, but also amenities and services in proximity to what 

you are developing that will make the process possible and 

ensure the homes are an attractive and convenient place 

to live. Proximity to employment centres and towns is key 

to this. The price point of the development and demand for 

housing in an area is always to the fore.  

At a high level, there must be provision of necessary 

services and infrastructure such as water, broadband, 

wastewater capacity, and electricity. Amenities such as 

shops, local parks, connectivity to main roads, bus routes, 

train lines, sports clubs, restaurants, shops and coffee shops 

all have an impact on the liveability of an area. There is no 

point developing a housing estate in an area where people 

will be isolated and not have meaningful opportunities to 

engage in the wider community on their doorstep.

p  Baunacloka Heights, Mungret Gate,  
 Co. Limerick

t	Brookhill, Carrigaline Co. Cork
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Connacht
CHI developed two estates in Co. Galway during 2020, 
building on work that has taken place within the county 
over the last number of years: Leana Theas, Mincloon, 
Galway (10), and Dunloe Street, Ballinasloe (9).   
Both housing developments were built in response to  
housing needs identified in Galway county. 

The properties are a mixture of A2 and A3 rated homes 

with air-to-water heating and active ventilation systems. 

The estate is on the west side of Galway City beside 

the entrance to the Cappagh Park and sports centre in 

Knocknacarra. The park there joins with Barna Woods and 

is a very popular and well used community facility.

All nominations were taken from Galway City Council and 

are a mixture of single people and couples, some with 

children. We worked with the City Council and the HSE to 

have a one-bedroom apartment adapted for a Member 

who needed greater accessibility in the home.  

Our contractors Ability Maintenance service worked  

effectively in late December and early January to adapt  

the accessibility of the home.   

‘Léana Theas’ means ‘south water-meadow’ and is in 

keeping with Galway City Council’s policy of giving Irish 

Language names to new estates, these are often local 

placenames, or ‘logainmneacha’.

Leana Theas, 
Mincloon, Galway

Co-operative Housing Ireland has seen tremendous growth in 2020, which has 
created some new challenges for the Housing Services team who manage our stock 
and support Members at local level. Against the backdrop of a global pandemic, 
CHI provided an uninterrupted housing services to almost 3,200 households and 
9,192 individuals across the country. A record year in housing delivery also means a 
record year in new Members. Our team adapted their way of working due to Covid-19 
restrictions and the increase in homes that we provided over the 12-month period. 

During 2020, the Housing Team relied on a combination 

of ICT and traditional channels to communicate with new 

and existing Members. Communications were conducted 

via letters, our website, social media updates and text 

messaging. Our Newsletter was also produced and 

delivered by hand to each Member. An electronic version 

of the Newsletter was introduced in 2020 to reach a wider 

audience. The click rate highlights a strong level of Member 

interest in news and community events.

A full service to our Members resumed as soon as 

protocols were developed, and where government 

restrictions allowed. 

At the start of the pandemic, the team moved seamlessly 

to remote working. The office phones of administration staff 

and work laptops and desktops were configured promptly, 

which ensured a continuous service to Members despite 

restrictions. 

Moving into a new home is a wonderful experience, but not 

without its challenges for our new Members, even more so 

during Covid-19 restrictions. Members were supported, as 

necessary, moving from their current accommodation to 

their new home. It is a key role for CHI’s housing team to 

support Members to make a smooth transition. 

Building  Sustainable  
Co-operative Communities 

Meeting with prospective Members took place in socially distanced scenarios to ensure the health 
and safety of everyone involved. Allocations were completed in smaller numbers to allow for this. 
Before the pandemic, key-handovers were made to up to 40 people in one day. Restrictions meant 
that these activities were spread over several days to accommodate larger estates. Our Housing 
Team continued to operate in this manner throughout 2020 to ensure allocations could be made 
in a timely and professional manner. 

Communication with our Members
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Member Survey 2020
Ensuring that services to our Members 
are not affected has been a priority 
of ours during Covid-19 restrictions. It 
has been encouraging for the team to 
hear some of your positive feedback 
concerning the high quality of service 
delivery during Government restrictions.

9 in 10 
Members 
feel at 
ease when 
contacting 
CHI

Repairs and Maintenance 
The initial impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on 
our business resulted in repairs being limited 
to emergency repairs only and emergency 
allocations.  As protocols were put in place a full 
repair service and allocations process resumed.  
Regular communications during the year kept 
our Members updated with the impact of the 
pandemic on our ability to deliver a service.  

Member Information
CHI continued to revise and deliver its 
programme of Information and Familiarisation for 
new Members to assist them in understanding 
co-operative housing and its place in the wider 
co-operative movement. Member feedback on 
these sessions is actively sought and analysed 
and used to inform future iterations of the 
programme. 

Member Handbook
The Member handbook was reviewed 
and updated during the year. The 
Handbook provides accurate and 
detailed information related to CHI 
tenancy and advice around home 
maintenance more generally, such as 
repairs, safety within the home and tips 
on being winter ready. It was designed 
as a first port of call for Members’ 
queries and contains a dedicated 
section on frequently asked questions. 

Member
Handbook

Our Member Survey 2020 illustrated that over 9 in 10 

Members feel at ease when contacting CHI about issues 

related to their home. 9 in 10 Members have also reported 

that they are satisfied with the quality of their home. 

The survey allows us to identify where improvements 

need to be made and will provide valuable data for future 

planning in 2021 and 2022.

Quality

90%*

Repairs

84%^

90%* are satisfied with  

the quality of their home.

84%^ are satisfied with  

repair services.

Condition

87%

Approachability

92%*

87% describe the condition of 

their home as being ‘very good’ 

or ‘good’ when they moved in.

92%* of members are ‘at ease’  

in contacting CHI about issues  

to do with their home.

Communications

87%*

Neighbourhood

84%*

87%* are satisfied with 

CHI communications.

84%* of members are  

satisfied with  

their neighbourhood.

Results from the Members Survey highlights the quality of service wwe are providing.

(*when neutral responses are removed, ^when the neutral and ‘not applicable’ responses are removed)
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Board
Skills Training
As a co-operative organisation, CHI promotes inclusive communities by providing 
support in education, training and information for our Members. 

Facilitating Members’ development in this way, ensures 

Members have options to participate in exercising 

democratic control over decisions that matter to them. 

In support of this ethos, CHI rolled out another course of 

Co-operative Board Skills Training which was delivered 

online in Autumn 2020 to 18 participants.  

The programme was broken into modules delivered 

on Thursday evenings and Saturday mornings over 

2½ - 3-hour sessions. Modules included Co-operative 

Structures & Role of the Board, Communicating to 

Influence, Housing Policy, Governance Codes, Leadership 

Strategy, Transformational Change, Finance Basics and 

CHI Finance. 

To that end, a programme of community development 

activities was supported throughout the year, led by 

the management committees of local co-operative. 

The Society has now recruited a Member Engagement 

Manager to further support the activities of the local 

co-operatives. This role has been well received by the 

Members and a full calendar of events has been planned 

for 2021. Many of these activities are being delivered 

remotely via Zoom.

Engaging with our Members was ever more important, 

especially as restrictions placed barriers on the contact 

CHI could have with Members and the types of activities 

communities and the organisation could hold. We 

commend communities who made a special effort to 

support vulnerable Members and organise inclusive and 

safe events for all to enjoy. 

Member 
Engagement
Despite Covid-19 a considerable number of events for our Members took place 
during 2020. The promotion and support of annual community meetings and 
events is central to our goal of building sustainable co-operative communities.
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Halloween Songs and Stories:
Members were invited to attend a facilitated session of 

Halloween songs and stories. Hosted by Kyle James Reilly 

and Paul Timoney. 51 people signed up for the event. 

Christmas Storytelling: 
Members were invited to attend a facilitated session of 

Christmas songs and stories. Hosted by Kyle James Reilly 

and Paul Timoney. 21 people signed up for the event. 

Art Competition: 
62 people signed up for the Christmas art competition 

themed ‘My Community at Christmas’. Competition 

contributors came from across the CHI network. An 

awards night celebrated the talent that was on display 

and over 40 Members attended the night. 

Vulnerable Members
Housing Services made a special effort to stay in contact 

with our more vulnerable Members during restrictions. 

The team compiled a list at the beginning of the 

pandemic of those who needed additional support.  We 

specifically targeted older and vulnerable Members to 

ensure that all necessary supports were put in place for 

them. 

Engaging with our Membership
As restrictions ease, the organisation looks forward 

to engaging with Members on a more personal basis 

through house visits and facilitating and supporting more 

community events that have been slowed down during 

the pandemic. 

Member Engagement Facebook group
A CHI Member engagement Facebook group was set up 

to share activities that were taking place on a national 

basis as well as provide communities with ideas that they 

could use in their community. 

A Member Engagement working group was set up to 

support the Member engagement manager in setting up 

national activities for the CHI Membership and to ensure 

that there was a Member’s voice in the development of 

the activities.

Raffles
Many communities across the Dublin Co-operatives held 

raffles and delivered selection boxes to the community 

members across the network. 

Games and supporting Members
Townsend street hosted several events for the people in 

their community including bingo and quiz nights. They  

also supported the older and more vulnerable people in 

their community by shopping and collecting essential 

goods they required. Similarly, Avondale in Mulhuddart,  

also hosted a bingo event for Members. 

Season’s Greetings
The Tannery in Cork delivered sweet treats to the young 

people in their community as a Christmas gift from the 

community and CHI. 

Art Attack
Kilcronan Court in Dublin held a Halloween themed 

colouring competition for the young people in the 

community. The winners received a box of face paints, but 

everyone received a prize for participating. Kilcronan also 

lit up their community with lights for Christmas. Members 

in the Ralahine community hosted a socially distant santa 

grotto for the young people in the community.

Community 
Events

CHI  
Member  
Events
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CHI undertook retrofitting projects on Kilcronan Court and McCleans court in Dublin during 
2020. The retrofits were delivered by Kingdom Installations. Established in 2003, Kingdom 
Installations have been delivering Sustainable Energy Authority of Ireland (SEAI) 'Better 
Energy Communities and National Home Retrofitting' projects since 2011. Ciaran Carmody, 
Contracts Manager with Kingdom Installations spoke to us about the benefits of such retrofits. 
These are essential upgrading works that improve the liveability and comfort levels for our 
Members. Under the Paris Agreement, Ireland must significantly reduce its carbon emissions 
by 2030. The Government’s Climate Action Plan aims to retrofit a total of 500,000 homes and 
install 400,000 heat pumps by 2030. 

Retrofitting our Homes

"The Kilcronan Court retrofit consisted of 40 homes. In 

2019, six homes in the estate were retrofitted under a 

pilot scheme and due to the success of this initiative, 

the other 34 homes were proposed to be submitted to 

SEAI for retrofitting grants. In addition to those homes, 

energy upgrades were undertaken in the Kilcronan 

Court community building. Work commenced in May 

2020 on site. Covid-19 presented many challenges to the 

project, however our project supervisor and Covid-19 

officer ensured that the correct procedures were 

implemented with contractors and Members, including 

surveys and risk assessments done with each home. 

Retrofitted elements included new windows which 

were upgraded from the timber framed windows, new 

attic insulation, wall insulation and new external doors. 

The team removed gas boilers and replaced them 

with air-to-water heat pumps including new radiators, 

the fireplaces were also closed to ensure the homes 

were well sealed. We also replaced electric showers 

with gravity power showers that are fed directly from 

the air-to-water heat pump which generates hot water. 

Mechanical and background ventilation was installed to 

reduce the risk of moisture being trapped in the homes. 

Energy monitors were installed, which will support the 

conservation of energy and help Members understand 

their energy consumption habits. The monitors connect 

to the incoming electricity at the meter cabinet outside 

and transmit data via Wi-Fi signal to a device in the 

house. 

On average, the BER rating of each of these homes 

increased dramatically from an E1 to an A3, which 

is a serious uplift to the energy efficiency within the 

properties. That will in turn result in increased comfort 

levels among Members. In addition, by doing this work 

it is hoped that there will be a significant reduction in 

maintenance on these homes going forward and a 

reduction in energy costs for Members. Retrofits like this 

potentially result in a 30 and 50 per cent energy saving 

for Members. 

While on site, we were able to offer advice to households 

on their energy bills and gave inductions on how to use 

the heating system to control both the space heating 

and hot water temperatures within their homes. 

In the community building, we installed new windows 

and doors, and insulated the walls and attic. Radiators 

were replaced and an air-to-water heat pump installed 

as well as energy efficient LED lights. 

We were delighted to deliver the project in a timely 

manner despite the barriers presented by Covid-19. 

We began retrofits in May and completed works by 

late September, which was well within our SEAI project 

deadline of 15th October 2020. 

The success of this project was due to the co-operation 

between Kingdom Installations, CHI and their Members. 

People on site were very welcoming and opened the 

doors to us. Naturally, people can be adverse to change, 

but the success of the initial pilot scheme in 2019 

proved to Members there that there was a significant 

benefit to the retrofits. Several Members became 

energy champions on site and expressed great interest 

in understanding the work. They helped relaying 

messages to the broader community and became the 

bridge between us and the residents, especially elderly 

people in the estate who would not be as familiar with 

the new technologies. 

The Team from CHI, namely Niall Kelly, Finbarr 

Hennessy and Melissa Ferraz were great support to us 

in the delivery of the upgrades especially Niall who had 

a great understanding and knowledge of everything in 

relation to the project and was a fantastic contact for us 

to have throughout. 

The Funding breakdown for these projects was SSE 

Airtricity 10%, SEAI 40% and CHI 50%, but it’s important 

to note that without the tenant buying into this project it 

wouldn’t be as successful.

Kilcronan Court, Dublin

“The success of this 
project is a result of the 
co-operation between 
Kingdom Installations, 
CHI and their Members. 
People on site were 
very welcoming”.

McCleans Court is an inner-city Dublin site, which 

presented a different set of challenges as there is very 

little space for parking and accessibility to a site in an 

urban area generally. As part of the retrofit, we removed 

storage heaters and installed a new wet system and 

air-to-water heat pumps to all apartments as well as 

insulating attics throughout. We noted there was poor 

water pressure on site, so we installed new pressurised 

water tanks.

New windows and doors were installed together with 

new LED lights and energy monitors to help Members 

understand their energy consumption. 

The energy upgrading works improved the BER ratings 

of these apartments from an F1 rating to a B1 rating.

The project in its entirety was a great success. We had 

the support from CHI’S Members from the offset.

When all works were completed, SEAI carried out 

inspections on 20% of the homes and apartments 

with a 100% pass achieved. We’re very proud of that 

fact. Going forward we have plans to complete similar 

retrofits Projects on CHI homes in Leopardstown, 

Tallaght and West court Dublin 8.” 

McCleans Court
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Rent 
Rent adjustments
We received many queries in 2020 from Members 

who have experienced a change in income due to the 

impact of Covid-19. The team supported Members 

to complete annual rent assessment forms, advised 

on its completion and documentation that needs to 

be provided. CHI also set up an online rent payment 

system to support Members paying their rent during 

restrictions. Overall, there was a significant drop in 

arrears during 2020. 

Arrears 
Arrears fell dramatically during 2020, with the biggest 

drop between September and October (0.56%). This 

has been achieved by the hard work of our housing 

team and is key to the overall sustainability of the 

organisation and our responsibility to funders and the 

requirements of the regulator.

Looking forward, CHI would like to build on the progress that we have made on reducing arrears and recommencing 

housing inspections. Once restrictions lift, it will be easier to carry out inductions with Members and ensure they are 

familiar with everything they need to know about living co-operatively. Supporting our Members will adapt based on 

CHI’s expansion plans.

Co-operative Housing Ireland provides quality early years 

and afterschool care and education in three locations 

as part of our vision to build sustainable co-operative 

communities.

• Island Key, East Wall, Dublin 3 

• St Finian’s, Lucan, Co Dublin 

• Brookview, Tallaght, Dublin 24

2020 was an extremely challenging year for all three 

Cooperative Childcare Services, while acknowledging 

the challenges a global pandemic brought to the 

provision of childcare throughout 2020 it is also prudent 

to acknowledge how rewarding our year in childcare 

provision was.  

While, like the rest of the country, we entered lockdown 

in mid-March, following extensive risk assessments, 

development of return-to-work protocols for staff, parents 

and children and adherence to all COVID-19 regulations, 

we were able to reopen our doors in June 2020 to 

provide childcare programmes to parents on the front-line 

or vulnerable children.  We were able to reopen fully in 

September 2020.  

The additional funding allocated for childcare to enable 

the reopening also to facilitate the upgrading of our three 

services with essential works being complete to ensure all 

COVID-19 regulations were adhered to. All three services 

introduced enhanced COVID-19 prevention measures and 

were fully supported by the parents to do so. 

Childcare staff remained healthy and safe throughout 

2020 and gained a huge insight in diverse working hours 

and methods.  Staff had to adapt to working at home from 

March to June 2020.This proved to be very advantageous 

to all childcare staff, as time and funding was allocated 

to provide CPD opportunities.  By the beginning of June, 

all childcare staff had completed or updated mandatory 

childcare training and additional skill-based training to 

enhance our service provision.  

Management acknowledges the difficulties faced by 

childcare staff during 2020 as they were presented with 

unimagined challenges in service provision and sustaining 

the continuous opening of each childcare service 

throughout the year. 

Staff  

Childcare

% Arrears 2020

Jan    Feb Mar Apr May  Jun  Jul  Aug  Sep  Oct  Nov  Dec

5.19 5.09
4.78

4.44 4.29 4.18
3.78 4.02

3.85 3.59 3.54 3.62
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Co-operative Childcare services continued to work in 

partnership with several childcare organisations and 

we are grateful to have sustained these relationships 

throughout 2020. Examples of partnerships include 

our ongoing work with Early Childcare Ireland, county 

childcare committees, POBAL, TUSLA, National Childcare 

Scheme, Better Start, local partnerships and local county 

councils. We recognise the most significant partnerships 

for Co-operative Childcare have been with Childcare 

Development Initiative, who provide funding to our 

Brookview Childcare to employ a Parent/Carer Facilitator; 

Dublin South County Partnership who awarded St Finians 

Childcare a grant of €10,000 to purchase new furniture 

and equipment for the children; and the National College 

of Ireland who support Island Key Childcare to facilitate 

Early Learning Initiatives with the ABC Early Years 

Coordinator.  

Funding and Regulatory Info  
The funding structures for Childcare in Ireland 

continued to change during 2020, while the National 

Childcare Scheme (NCS) was introduced in 2019, it was 

fully embedded by the Department in 2020 with the 

movement of all childcare schemes to the NCS platform 

apart from the Community Childcare Subvention Plus 

programme which remained on POBAL.  

Our services also accessed additional funding from 

National Childcare Scheme and POBAL specific to the 

COVID-19 reopening i.e., COVID-19 Capital Grants and 

COVID-19 RSP Funding.  We accessed subsidies under 

the Temporary Wage Subsidy Scheme, Temporary 

Wage Subsidiary Childcare Scheme and the Early Wage 

Subsidiary Scheme. It should be noted these additional 

financial resources enabled us not only to reopen but to 

sustain our services when no other income was available.  

2020 saw both St Finians and Brookview undergo a 

complete TUSLA Early Years Inspection and receive 

excellent feedback from both, these are available online 

to review.  All three services continued to complete 

their Early Years and School-Aged Childcare TUSLA 

Registrations. Finally, project plans were drawn up and 

agreed in respect of the independence of the childcare 

services from CHI with this project expected to be 

complete in 2021.   

Despite Covid-19, our childcare programmes remained in 

high demand throughout 2020, all services continued to 

provide Early Years Childcare Programmes in the mornings 

and School-Aged Childcare in the afternoons to 162 children 

(75% capacity) across the three services.  

Our professional relationships with children and parents 

who attend our services continued to improve and both 

child and parent input and feedback into our programmes 

increased.  

We also increased our level of practical parental supports 

to all parents during 2020. We continued to offer full-time 

care to School-Aged Children during non-term time through 

Summer and Mid-Term projects. Staff took a creative 

approach to trips and transport to ensure we always 

remained COVID-19 compliant.  

Childcare 

Partnerships 
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Raising 
Our Capacity
Co-operative Housing Ireland’s ambitious plans for growth in housing delivery and 
services to Members required a necessary growth in the organisation’s team and 
their professional development. At the end of 2020, the number of people working 
for CHI increased to 87 with a net staff turnover of zero among staff working in 
housing services and delivery. 

Our employees deserve huge recognition and respect 

for the way they have dealt with the adverse challenges 

and difficulties presented by the COVID-19 Pandemic 

throughout 2020. They have seamlessly transitioned to 

remote and hybrid working practices since the decision 

was made to withdraw from CHI Offices on the 12th March 

2020. Staff have continued to function productively ever 

since by supporting a safe working environment, ensuring 

business continuity, driving continued business growth and, 

most importantly, supporting our members. 

Towards the end of 2020, CHI began the process of 

introducing a performance-based management system 

which will replace the current review process and salary 

increments. Our work is dependent on our dedicated staff, 

the majority of whom work in front end operations across 

seven office locations throughout Ireland, as well as three 

Dublin-based childcare centres. 

Health 
and Safety
The wellbeing of CHI employees is safeguarded through strict 
adherence to health and safety standards. 

The Safety, Health and Welfare at Work Act, 2005 imposes 

certain requirements on employers and the Society has 

taken the necessary action to ensure compliance with the 

Act, including the adoption of safety statements for our 

buildings.

CHI has a comprehensive Health and Safety Statement. 

A new Covid-19 Committee was also formed to review all 

work protocols to ensure the safety of our staff and our 

members. This committee has met on several occasions 

and have made various recommendations throughout the 

year.

Most of our staff have been working from home, where 

practicable, and are continuing to do so. Return to office 

protocols have been developed and will be implemented 

when government restrictions allow.

CHI offices and teams vary, however, the following gives a broad overview:

• Housing Services: comprising area housing managers and housing specialists, housing 

officers, technical managers, technical officers, repairs operatives and caretakes who are 

dedicated to maintaining the relationship with our Members and the quality of our housing

• Contact Centre: ensuring excellence in customer service for our Members

• New Business: increasing housing provision by creating new opportunities in collaboration 

with external partners across the country

• Childcare: providing for childcare needs in 3 locations in Dublin

• Head Office: which includes senior management, finance, and corporate services 
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Maria’s Background
I started working in a family run news agency business 

in 1984 before moving into auctioneering in 2002-2016. 

When I moved into auctioneering, I completed an BSc 

(Hons) Degree in Bolton St. in Property Studies. I joined 

Co-operative Housing Ireland as a housing officer in August 

2016 and have since been promoted to Area Housing 

Services Manager mainly dealing with counties in the 

Leinster Area excluding Dublin. 

Area of work
I work from our Enniscorthy based office. We house people 

from the various council housing lists who are in need of 

housing. The council nominate families and individuals 

and we spend time answering queries to make sure a CHI 

home is the right solution for them. 

The team
I am very fortunate in Enniscorthy to have an excellent 

hard-working team. The team consists of Catherine 

Ormond looking after administration who is with us two 

years and Majella Asple, who joined us as a housing officer 

approximately one and a half years ago. Jane Sheehan 

McGrath joined our team as a housing officer earlier this 

year. We work very well together but there is always a bit 

of banter as well. It is a pleasure to come to work, we also 

have excellent support from our Dublin office.

Favourite part of the job
Move in Days are the best days for all of us. It is then you 

can see the hard work started by our development team, 

continued by the housing team come to fruition. This is 

when the ‘co-operative’ in Co-operative Housing comes to 

the fore. It is a privilege to be part of the excitement when 

the new families arrive at their homes for the first time. 

Challenges of the work
An unfortunate part of our work is dealing with challenging 

behaviour. Society is mixed as are the people nominated 

to us by the various councils. We remind them that CHI 

is committed to the values of self-help, self-responsibility, 

democracy, equality, equity and solidarity – so while we can 

find some of the behaviours challenging, we try to adopt 

a fair approach and gently encourage wayward Members 

to consider the ethical values of honesty, openness social 

responsibility and caring for others. 

Rent arrears is another challenging part of our work but we 

work hard to stay on top of arrears which is evident from 

our monthly collection results. 

As a team, our office endeavours to move people into their 

new homes as quickly as possible. This has been more 

challenging since Covid-19 as each step of the process is 

more time consuming. I am extremely proud that we have 

managed to house so many families in these challenging 

times. It is a pleasure to be part of this hard-working team.

Maria  
Butler 

Staff Profile

Area Housing 
Services Manager
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Structure
Co-operative Housing Ireland Society Limited ("the 

Society”) was formed in 1973 under the Industrial and 

Provident Societies Acts (Reg. No. 3174R) and is the 

national organisation representing, promoting, and 

developing the co-operative housing movement in 

Ireland. The Society is jointly owned by its affiliated 

co-operative housing societies.  It is a not-for-profit 

organisation whose objectives are charitable in nature 

and has charitable status (CHY 6522). The Society’s 

Revenue Charity Number is 20012182.

Co-operative Housing Ireland is Governed by its Rules, 

which were last amended at a Special General Meeting 

on 20 July 2020.

Governance and Management
Co-operative Housing Ireland Board

Co-operative Housing Ireland’s Board comprises twelve 

non-executive members. Up to seven Members of the 

Board are elected by the members of Co-operative 

Housing Ireland and up to five are co-opted, by the 

Board, through a competitive, publicly advertised, 

process. Board members serve for a two-year term 

which may be renewed up to a maximum tenure of ten 

years. 

The Board give their time to Co-operative Housing 

Ireland on a voluntary basis and receive no 

remuneration. Out-of-pocket expenses may be 

reimbursed.

The Board met seven times in 2020 (eight times in 

2019), with an attendance of 80% (2019, 77%). 

The attendance of members was as follows:

Structure, 
Governance and 
Management Name Meeting Attendance 

Pearse O’Shiel 

(Chairperson) 7/7

Enda Egan 

(Vice-Chairperson) 4/6

Cinnamon Blackmore 

(newly elected 17 October 2020) 1/1

Kim Byrne 

(retired 17 October 2020) 1/6

Michael Collins 

(appointed 8 December 2020) 1/1

Regina Coakley 

(newly elected 17 October 2020) 1/1

Kenneth Hanrahan 

(newly elected 17 October 2020) 1/1

Frances Kawala 7/7

Lisa Kinsella Colman 6/7

Derek Maher 6/7

Enda McGuane 

(appointed 8 December 2020) 1/1

Kim Olin 

(retired 17 October 2020) 6/6

Edmund O’Shea

(retired 17 October 2020) 4/6

John Power 

(retired 17 October 2020) 3/6

Claire Ryan 5/6

Carol Tancock 6/6

In accordance with Co-operative Housing Ireland’s Rules 

an Election took place in 2020 whereby seven members 

were elected. An additional five members were 

subsequently co-opted in accordance with the Rules. 

Co-operative Housing Ireland is very grateful for the 

considerable time, expertise and support given by 

Kim Byrne, Kim Olin, Edmund O’Shea, and John Power 

as Board members. The Board welcomes the newly 

appointed members.

Co-operative Housing Ireland Committees

The Board also has three standing sub-committees 

that meet on a regular basis: the Audit, Assurance and 

Finance Committee, Customer services Committee, and 

Development and Growth Committee. The membership 

of these sub-committees includes at least two Board 

Members, as well as others who are not members of the 

Board, but who volunteer their expertise to assist the 

committees on an ongoing basis. 

There are also Ad Hoc committees that meet on a 

need’s basis: Officer Committee, and Remuneration 

Committee.

Details of the standing sub-committees are outlined 

below:

Audit, Assurance and Finance Committee

The Audit, Assurance, and Finance (AAF) Committee is 

comprised of voluntary membership and met formally 

six times during 2020 and this was supplemented with 

various ad hoc work undertaken by the Committee, 

and its working groups, and provided individually by its 

members during the year. Ad hoc work undertaken by 

the Committee during 2020 included work relating to 

the impact of Covid-19, Stock Condition and Regulatory 

inputs.

The workings of the AAF Committee are subject 

to terms of reference stipulated by the Board. The 

Committee gives assurance to the Board in giving 

objective advice on the adequacy of the systems of 

governance, internal control and risk management 

in the Society, including oversight of the work of the 

internal audit function. The role of the AAF Committee is 

therefore advisory rather than supervisory. 

In summary, it provides oversight of the financial 

reporting process, risk management systems, 

governance, internal controls and audit functions of the 

Society and provides assurance on the adequacy of and 

compliance with these systems. 

Based on its considerations during the financial year, the 

AAF Committee is satisfied that the controls in place in 

CHI have been developed in a manner which addresses 

the range of risks for the Society and that these controls 

are operating satisfactorily. 

The Committee is also satisfied that the Internal Audit 

function, which is provided by an external firm of 

auditors and the external auditors are making a valuable 

contribution to the overall control environment through 

their evaluation and recommendations for improvement 

of controls across the activities of CHI.

Name Meeting Attendance 

Carol Tancock 

(Chairperson/Board Member) 6/6

Michael Collins  

(Board Member)  

(appointed 8 December 2020) N/A*

Donal Dunlop  

(appointed 8 December 2020) N/A*

Enda Egan (Board Member) 4/6

Evelyn Fitzpatrick 5/6

Brian Heffernan 

 (appointed 8 December 2020) N/A*

Jim O’Leary (resigned 17 October 2020) 6/6

(*There were no subcommittee meetings between October 
and year end)
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Customer Services Committee

(*There were no subcommittee meetings between October 

and year end)

The role of the Customer Services Committee, which 

met three times during the year, is to provide direction 

and oversight on the Society’s work in engaging 

customers, including their wider community, and 

providing services that meet their needs and improves 

the customer experience. In addition, the committee 

has oversight of the collection of rental income, asset 

management and the operation of the Childcare 

business. The sub-committee helps to ensure that 

efficient and effective services are provided to meet 

agreed strategic and corporate outcomes, objectives 

and values and that mitigation action is taken to address 

under performance where necessary. It has a particular 

focus on customer and community insight and ensuring 

that the Society learns from and is responsive to 

customer and community feedback. 

Development and Growth Committee

(*There were no subcommittee meetings between October 

and year end)

The Development and Growth Committee, which met 

3 times during the year, provides detailed scrutiny on 

all aspects of developing the Society’s business, giving 

advice and making recommendations to the Board 

on all aspects of growth and development including 

investment in specific housing developments. The sub-

committee has a strategy development role on behalf of 

the Board for forward growth and major new business. 

The sub-committee also acts as a sounding Board for 

long-term development planning and provides advice 

on best practice in the areas of planning, design, access, 

and sustainability to the Board.

Training and Induction

All new Board Members are required to complete an 

induction process, which includes presentations on the 

aims of Co-operative Housing Ireland and how they are 

being achieved and an extensive training programme. 

In partnership with The Wheel (Ireland’s national 

association of community and voluntary organisations) 

CHI have developed a bespoke training programme 

which includes content on the role of the board, 

governance, strategy, strategic change, leadership, 

Name Meeting Attendance 

Lisa Kinsella Colman  

(Chairperson/Board Member) 3/3

Regina Coakley (Board Member)  

(appointed October 2020) N/A*

Kenneth Hanrahan (Board Member) 

(appointed 17 October 2020) N/A*

Derek Maher (Board Member)  3/3

Kim Olin (Board Member)  

(retired 17 October 2020) 3/3

John Power (Board Member)  

(retired 17 October 2020) 1/3

Name Meeting Attendance 

Enda McGuane  

(Chairperson/Board Member)  

(appointed 8 December 2020) N/A*

Edmund O’Shea  

(Chairperson/Board Member)  

(retired 17 October 2020) 3/3

Martin Hanratty  

(appointed 8 December 2020) N/A*

Frances Kawala (Board Member) 2/3

Claire Ryan (Board Member) 3/3

Sarah Sherlock  

(appointed 8 December 2020) N/A*

Catherine Sturgeon  

(appointed 8 December 2020) N/A*

communications, housing policy, and two modules on 

finance. Should a Board Member fail to complete their 

required training during their first term will preclude 

them from re-election or re-co-opting.

Conflicts of Interest

All Board Members have to sign a Code of Conduct 

form which outlines possible conflicts of interest.  

Members also have to complete a Register of Interests 

form which records all business interests for themselves 

and all their immediate family. All Board Members sign 

an Attendance Sheet at each Board Meeting which 

states that they do not have any conflict of interest with 

any item on the Agenda for that meeting. The Agenda 

also has a Conflict of Interest standing item and the 

Chairperson specifically asks the attendees if they have 

any conflict of interest with any item on the Agenda.

Any Board Member having a Conflict of Interest with an 

item on the Agenda of any meeting absents themselves 

for that item and this is recorded in the Minute of the 

meeting.

Material Conflicts of Interests may require Board 

Members to resign their position on the Board.

Our Rules deal comprehensively with Conflicts of 

Interest.

Board Appraisal  

The collective and individual performance is assessed 

on a bi-annual basis. This process is managed by 

an independent consultant. The process includes a 

self-reflective exercise for each Board Member and a 

one-on-one interview with each Board Member. The 

independent consultant also attends a number of Board 

Meetings in an observer capacity. The independent 

consultant then gives individual feedback to each Board 

Member on a confidential basis. The independent 

consultant also produces a report which is given only 

to the Chairperson.  The Chairperson having assessed 

the findings of the report may choose to take specific 

actions as he sees fit.

Code of Conduct

Co-operative Housing Ireland’s Board members have 

signed up to a Code of Conduct, which underpins 

all their actions. The Code of Conduct is based on 

the following values and principles – honesty, best 

interest of CHI, loyalty, commitment to declare conflict, 

confidentiality, law abiding, maintaining requirement of 

tenancy agreement, and integrity. 

Decision Making and Standards

The Board is committed to maintaining the highest 

standard of corporate governance and they believe that 

this is a key element in ensuring the proper operation 

of the Society’s activities. They are responsible for 

providing leadership, developing strategy and ensuring 

control. The Board is provided with regular financial 

and operational information. The role of Chairperson 

and Chief Executive Officer are separate, and the Board 

is independent of the management of Co-operative 

Housing Ireland. The Board is committed to achieving 

best practice in all CHI’s operations and recognises its 

responsibility to ensure that the Society has appropriate 

systems of internal control.

The Executive Management Team comprises, Chief 

Executive Officer, Head of New Business, Head of 

Finance, Head of Corporate Services, and Head of 

Customer Services.

Co-operative Housing Ireland is subscribed to the 

Voluntary Regulatory Code for Approved Housing 

Bodies ("AHB’s”) and participates in financial returns 

to the Housing Regulator. The Housing Regulator has 

issued a Governance Code for AHBs. The Housing 

Regulator’s position is being put on a legal standing with 

new legislation having been signed into law in late 2019. 

A commencement order is expected in late 2021.
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2020 was a difficult year due to Covid-19 the fallout 

of Covid-19. In response, CHI activated its business 

continuity plan during March 2020 and focused on 

its mission, activities and attaining it objectives. The 

strong financial results achieved were testament to the 

resilience and flexibility of CHI and its staff in adapting to 

the changing working environment.

Review  
of Financial 
Outcome 2020
Our financial outcome is presented in the audited financial statements from  
page 66. A detailed budget is prepared in line with the strategic plan and it is 
reviewed by the Audit, Assurance and Finance sub-committee and further 
reviewed and approved by the Board of management. Actual results and 
outcomes are compared against the budget to ensure alignment with plan,  
tight budgetary control, and value for money.

+23.4%
Income (Earnings Before 

Interest Tax 
Depreciation and 
Amortisation)+8.10%

Surplus

+68.2%
EBITDA

The total income for CHI in 

2020 amounted to €31.26m. 

This was an increase of 

23.4% on 2019. This was 

a very solid performance 

confirming strong growth  

in line with expectations.

Income  €’m

Rental Income and other Charges to Tenants €9.12

Payment & Availability Agreements  €13.40

Management & Maintenance Income  €0.65

Amortisation of Capital Subsidies €7.25

Childcare Income & Supports  €0.82

Other Income €0.02

  €31.26

The main driver for the increase in income was the 

continued growth in social housing units delivered as 

homes by CHI. 

CHI acquired 454 units in 2020. The corresponding figure 

for 2019 was 371 units. Total housing stock at the end of 

2020 amounted to 3,289 units.

The growth in units resulted in increased Payment and 

Availability Agreement income to €13.40m and Rental 

Income and other charges to tenants to €9.12m. These 

income streams are vital to the ongoing viability of CHI in 

funding the operational costs of CHI’s activities, housing 

stock and debt financing. The Government supported 

Payment and Availability Agreements are provided 

by certain Local Authorities to CHI. The contractual 

agreements with local authorities were unaffected by 

Covid-19 and ensured the continued delivery of services 

by CHI.

Certain older originally grant funded properties are 

funded by a ‘differential’ income based rent, supplemented 

by a management and maintenance allowance from 

relevant Local Authorities. The management and 

maintenance allowance is flat lined at €0.65m in 2020.  

The ability to manage and maintain these older grant 

funded properties is challenged by the contractual terms 

set out  in the original grant agreements. 

CHI’s Childcare services were significantly curtailed during 

the year in line with Covid protocols. Government financial 

supports received by CHI ensured that Childcare staff 

were retained during this period in providing services to 

children of certain frontline personnel. 

Income
n	 Rental Income

n	 Payment Availability 
Agreements Income

n	 Management & 
Maintenance income

n	 Authorisation of  
Capital Susidies

n		Childcare Income  
and Supports

n		Other Income (0%)

29%

23%

43%

2%

3%

Total Income 
€31.26m by 
Category

*A Glossary of Financial Terms are 
presented at the back of this Report
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Total expenditure on Housing and 

Community services for 2020 was 

€12.36m an increase in costs of 

10.6% from 2019. The costs were in 

line with expectation.

Expenditure 2020

Expenditure 2020 v 2019

€9.604 m
€12.361 m

€18.345 m

€21.965 m

n	Housing & Community Expenditure

n	Depreciation

n	Expenditure 2020

n	Expenditure 2019

Surplus 
The surplus is shown per 

the financial statements 

including depreciation and 

capital grants amortised.

EBITDA  
(Earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation)

€0.00

€2.00

€4.00

€6.00

€8.00

€10.00

€12.00

€14.00

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

€
 m

's

5 Year Trending

EBITDA

EBITDA in 2020 amounted 

to €11.65m an increase of 

68.2% on 2019. EBITDA is 

an effective indicator of the 

financial strength generated 

from CHI’s operations. 

CHI has continued to grow its 

EBITDA line over a five-year 

period as can be seen in the 

table on the right.
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The KPIs confirm the solid financials at 
the end of 2020

• EBITDA Margin – Earnings (EBITDA) as % of 

Total Income (Less Amortisation)

 49% – Indicates financial strength generated 

by CHI operations

• EBITDA Interest Cover – Earnings (EBITDA) as 

% of Interest payable

 232% – Indicates that Earnings are 

comfortably covering our Interest amounts 

payable on loans, well ahead of the threshold 

required by our lenders.

• Debt Service Cover – Earnings (EBITDA) as a 

% of Interest and Capital Repayments 

 146% – Indicates that Earnings are well 

covering our Interest and Capital amounts 

payable on loans, well ahead of the threshold 

required by CHI lenders. Gearing Ratio – 

Loans as a % of Historic Cost of Properties. 

• Gearing Ratio excluding CALF  –  Loans 

excluding CALF Loans as a % of Historic Cost 

of properties

 The Gearing ratio has increased based on 

the funding model used by CHI (see diagram 

of the funding structure opposite). CHI funds 

its investment in social housing through the 

Government supported framework of CALF 

and Payment and Availability funding. Bank 

finance is also sourced. This means that the 

funding model is 100% geared. The Board and 

Management is comfortable with increasing 

gearing because State backed income is 

being used to back the debt. With CALF 

excluded the ratios are lower. 

There are a number of financial indicators that 

the Board, Committees and Management use to 

monitor the financial performance of CHI. 

Key Financial 
Performance 
Indicators (KPIs)

Ratios 2020 2019

EBITDA Margin  49% 38%

EBITDA Interest Cover 232% 226%

Debt Service Cover 146% 150%

Gearing 55% 42%

Gearing excl. CALF 39% 28%

Liquidity  203% 155%

CALF and P&A 
Funding Structure

•  Liquidity Ratio – Debtors + Cash as a % of 

current Liabilities 

CHI liquidity has improved over the last number 

of years. At the end of 2020, the liquidity ratio 

was 203%. This confirmed head room to meet 

more than twice the amount of the short-term 

liabilities at year end. Pursuant to the Treasury 

Management Policy, CHI is required at all times, 

to hold a minimum cash deposit of €2m. The 

CHI combined bank balances increased by 

€7.3m to €13.2m in the full year ended 2020.

Local Authorities Social Tenants

AHB

HFA/Private Funders

P&A Income 
Streams

Differential 
Rent

Senior Debt 
Service

CALF Funding
<=30% of Capital

Debt Finance
Typically <=80%

                                Cashflows on acquisition / over construction period                                    Cashflows over P&A contract /debt term
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During 2020 CHI continued its policy to diversify 

its debt funding sources using domestic banks. 

The HFA remains the key lending partner to 

CHI. CALF funding from Local Authorities is 

an important funding pillar in leveraging bank 

debt. Lending from the Bank of Ireland grew 

during 2020 to include the funding of schemes 

in Co. Wicklow and Co. Kildare. The mix of State 

funding and bank debt is a robust formula that 

is working for CHI to deliver housing growth in 

the co-operative social housing sector.

The active sources of funding to CHI are loans 

from the Housing Finance Agency (HFA), Bank of 

Ireland and Department of Housing under CALF. 

This debt grew from €161.8m in 2019 to €271.2m 

at year end 2020.

Funding 
€271.2 m
Total Debt 
Funding Balances

Loan Type Weighted Average Loan Interest 31/12/2020 Loan Portfolio Holding

Fixed Loans Residential 2.65% 71.57%

CALF 2.00% 27.42%

Variable Loans Residential 2.04% 0.92%

Non-Residential Variable Loans 3.64% 0.09%

Non-Residential Fixed Loans 0 0.0%

CHI adopts a risk averse approach to its residential borrowings by using fixed interest rates for the 

terms of the loans, secured on specific properties and matched to the term of the State support 

Payment and Availability contracts.  The weighted average Loan Interest rate for the categories of 

outstanding debts were represented as:

Loan interest charged to the Income and 

Expenditure accounts amounted to €5.064m 

in 2020. This represented an increase of 65%. 

The increase in loan interest charged is directly 

related to the substantial increase in loan drawn-

downs during 2020. 

Fixed Tangible Assets 
Housing Units Tangible Fixed Assets at cost 

amounted to €461.308 million at the end of 

2020. The corresponding amount for 2019 was 

€347.036 million. This represented an increase 

of €114.272 million. The increase included the 

purchase costs of 454 social housing homes in 

2020.

Reserves Position

The Board established CHI’s first Reserves policy 

reflected in the 2020 Financial Statements. 

Revenue Reserves

CHI’s policy is to retain a level of revenue reserves 

which reflects its needs at the current time and in 

the foreseeable future. The reserves are sufficient 

to meeting, as a minimum, the running costs 

for a period of 12 months net of contractually 

committed State backed Payment an Availability 

income. Annually the Board reviews the 

adequacy of the amount and period amending it, 

where necessary, to reflect changing needs. 

28%58%

14%

CHI Debt Profile  
31/12/2020

HFA

BOI

CALF
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Designated Reserve – for future 
investment in Stock Condition
CHI’s policy is to retain a level of designated reserves in 

cash backed form. The 2020 designated reserves are 

sufficient to meeting as a minimum the following year’s 

2021 budgeted Stock Condition/Major Repairs Capex. On 

an ongoing basis the Board aims to generate a surplus on 

operations which will allow for augmentation of the CHI 

designated reserves. 

Dividends and retentions 
Co-operative Housing Ireland is precluded by its rules from 

paying dividends either as part of normal operations or on 

a distribution of its assets in the event of a winding-up. 

Statement of relevant audit information 
The Board have taken all necessary steps to ensure 

that they have been made aware of all relevant audit 

information and confirm that, so far as management 

are aware, there is no relevant information of which the 

statutory auditors are unaware. 

Auditors 
The 2020 Financial Year audit represents the first financial 

year audited by Grant Thornton. 

Future developments 
CHI continues to seek avenues to develop new co-

operative housing across tenures throughout the country. 

CHI will actively expand the co-operative housing model 

across Ireland in response to housing needs. Expansion will 

be in line with the Development Growth Plan adopted by 

the Board in September 2020. 

Going concern 
Based on the results for the year, the year-end financial 

position and the approved 2021 budget, the Board 

believes that CHI has adequate resources to continue in 

operational existence for the foreseeable future. The Board 

believes that there are therefore no material uncertainties 

that call into doubt CHI’s ability to continue in operation. 

Accordingly, CHI continues to adopt the "going concern” 

basis in preparing the financial statements.

In many countries, businesses have been forced to cease 

or restrict operations for long or indefinite periods of 

time. Measures taken to contain the spread of the virus 

including travel bans, quarantines, social distancing and the 

closure of non-essential services have triggered significant 

disruption to businesses worldwide resulting in economic 

slowdown.

CHI has adhered to the Government guidelines to help 

mitigate the spread of the virus.

CHI’s principal income streams have been tested in 

2020 and have been proven to be resilient and robust. 

Notwithstanding, CHI is constantly monitoring its rental 

income contributions from tenant members and these 

will be kept under constant review as some household 

incomes may experience contraction. 

The primary source of funding to CHI is from Payment 

and Availability income which is underpinned by the 

State and it continues to be received by CHI as normal. 

Childcare services were disrupted in 2020 but costs have 

been alleviated through State financial supports in respect 

of wage and overheads which have continued into 2021. 

CHI’s commitments to bank and HFA loans continue to be 

honoured.

CHI has determined that these events are non-adjusting 

subsequent events. Accordingly, the financial position and 

results of operations for the year ending 31st December 

2020 have not been adjusted. 

While there is certain degree of optimism as a result of the 

wide scale vaccination rollout the duration and impact of 

Covid-19 remains unclear at this time and it’s not possible 

to reliably estimate the consequences and impact on the 

financial position of CHI for future periods.

Impact of Covid-19  
and CHI’s financial 
management
Since 31st December 2019, the spread of the Covid-19 virus has severely 
impacted many local economies around the globe. In response to the crisis 
during March 2020, Co-operative Housing Ireland activated its Business 
Continuity Plan to ensure continuity for the ongoing management of its 
activities. Throughout 2020 and into 2021 the contagion caused by Covid-19 
remains a risk for all aspects of society and the general economy. Covid-19 
therefore remains a continuing event post balance sheet.
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Risk 
Management Training and development process in place. 

Annual performance review process. 

Educational assistance in place for work related training programmes. 

Ongoing recruitment drive across the departments to address staff shortages.

Review of pay and conditions carried out. 

Use of experienced external recruitment agencies.

Employment law advisory sought as appropriate.

Implementation of organisational review.  

Robust recruitment, performance appraisal and training procedures for board 

members implemented.

Implement regulatory instruction / guidance, external auditor guidance.

Director’s report in Annual Audited Accounts and directly to Interim Housing 

Regulator. 

Maintaining regulatory relationships through ongoing communication.

Strict adherence to deadlines.

Annual Returns are submitted to the Regulator each year. 

Housing Alliance influences with the Department of Housing with regards to 

policy change.

Financial Oversight: Daily and weekly review of bank accounts. Cashflow 

position forecasting; Matching of mortgages to funding. 

Governance Oversight: Audit, Assurance and Finance Committee review of 

project management reports that may identify budget overruns.

Construction projects include contingency provisions. Performance bonds 

included for large scale construction projects. Legal Advisors are in place to 

engage with external parties where required. 

Quarterly Treasury Report has been implemented in February 2020. A Treasury 

Management Policy has been developed and approved by the Board 10 March 

2020.

Board Strategic Plan is focused on turn-key acquisitions instead of direct built 

construction projects undertaken by CHI. The only exceptions to this are legacy 

projects that remain to be completed.

AREA OF RISK  MITIGATION STRATEGY

Human 
Resources

Reputational 
damage

Legislative 
and 
regulatory 
requirements

Funding 
delays

Financial 
sustainability

Risk and Uncertainties
During the year, the Risk Register and Risk Management Policy were reviewed regularly as standing items at Board 

and Audit, Assurance and Finance Committee meetings. CHI performs regular reviews of all organisational risks and 

works with the Board to review, rank and identify mitigating strategies as appropriate. The Risk Register is a living 

monitor of risks for the organisation and is regularly updated to reflect changes in the risk environment.

CHI’s Board maintains a Risk Management Policy that sets out the risk appetite, risk 
tolerance, risk statements by risk category, and the overall governance structure 
employed to monitor and manage mitigation strategies. The policy is further 
supplemented by the Risk Register, which details the main risks to the organisation, 
ranks them and their likelihood to materialise as well as the potential impact on the 
organisation. It also outlines mitigating strategies aimed at reducing or controlling 
the incidence or impact on the organisation. 
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Further 
Information

Co-operative Housing Ireland will continue to enhance services to its members while seeking 
opportunities to develop new co-operative housing throughout the country. We will actively 
expand the co-operative housing model across Ireland in response to housing needs. Our 
expansion will be prioritised in areas where there is already CHI infrastructure and will be 
guided by our Strategic Plan.

Looking 
Ahead

Accounting Records
The Board of Management believes that they have 

complied with the requirements of Section 13(2) of the 

Industrial and Provident Societies Act 1893 to 2018 by 

providing the auditors with access to CHI’s accounting 

records. The accounting records are maintained at Co-

operative Housing Ireland’s registered office in 11/12 

Warrington Place, Dublin 2.

Lobbying and Political Contributions
The Society is registered with the Charities Regulatory 

Authority (No. 20012182) and with the Regulator of 

Lobbying and submits regular returns.

There were no political contributions in 2020, and as a 

result no disclosures are required under the Electoral Act, 

1997.

Post balance sheet event
There have been no significant events affecting the Society 

since the end of the financial year.

Dividends and retentions
The Society is precluded by its rules from paying dividends 

either as part of normal operations or on a distribution of 

its assets in the event of a winding up.

Tax Clearance
Co-operative Housing Ireland is tax compliant and provides 

ROS Tax clearance access number to funders and grant 

providers when requested.

Auditors
The auditors, Grant Thornton, who were appointed during 

the year, continue in office in accordance with section 

383(2) of the Companies Act 2014.

Statement of relevant audit information
The Board have taken all necessary steps to ensure 

that they have been made aware of all relevant audit 

information and confirm that, so far as management 

are aware, there is no relevant information of which the 

statutory auditors are unaware.

In 2021, CHI will continue to improve services to 

members and increase our supply of homes. To 

achieve this we will:

• Provide more affordable homes. While Covid-19 has 

impacted greatly on housing supply we will aim to 

increase our annual output by 10 per cent and deliver 

approximately 500 homes in 2021. 

• Improve our systems and processes to manage 

our housing stock by establishing a new Asset 

Management and Property Services division.

• Benchmark our service to members to assure that  

we deliver a high-quality service.

• Improve and up-grade systems and procedures,  

in development and customer services.

• Further develop our relationship with key stakeholders.

• Continue to diversify funding sources.

Develop staff including the introduction of a 

performance-based management system. 
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The need for housing, particularly affordable housing, 

has grown over the lifetime of the Government’s 

current housing plan ‘Rebuilding Ireland’. This need 

has been amplified due to the impact of Covid-19 when 

house building, except for a small number of housing 

developments, ground to a halt in 2020. Building costs 

have also increased due to a number of factors including 

BREXIT, Covid-19 and related supply chain issues. 

There continues to be a shortfall in the number of new 

homes being built. It is commonly accepted that at least 

33,000 new homes need to be provided annually to 

meet need, whereas only 20,676 were built in 2020. Early 

indications for 2021 show that output for Q1, compared 

to 2020, is down 20 percent. This shortfall will result in 

growing competition between housing tenures and greater 

uncertainty for providers of affordable homes. 2021 will 

see the publication of the Department of Housing, Local 

Government and Heritage’s new five-year strategy ‘Housing 

for All’. It is imperative that those with greatest need are 

prioritised. CHI will continue to look for opportunities to 

influence policy development and collaborate with other 

AHBs and the Housing Alliance to increase access to 

affordable housing.

At the time of writing the numbers being hospitalised by 

the Covid-19 in Ireland continues to fall while the numbers 

being vaccinated greatly increases. This brings more 

certainty and a belief that Ireland will not enter a fourth 

wave allowing for housing supply to increase. 

Currently, political debates are taking place to manage 

competition in the housing market between short-term, 

high yield, institutional investors and first-time buyers, 

local authorities and not-for-profit housing providers. It is 

essential that those with greatest need are protected and 

continued efforts are made to reduce the cost of housing 

provision.

In recent years the threat posed by institutional investors 

has emerged.  Assisted by the Enhanced Leasing Scheme, 

they have developed the capacity to acquire large amounts 

of new housing that could potentially have been acquired 

for public housing.  This may undermine the AHB sector’s 

ability to acquire new homes and this may negatively 

impacted CHI in the coming years. Despite this threat CHI 

will endeavour to continue to provide greater numbers of 

new homes each year.  In this regard, it should be noted 

that CHI policy favours the organisation owning its homes 

and that leasing is not part of our strategy going forward. 

This is to ensure that our homes, which CHI will own,  will 

facilitate “homes for life” by being available in perpetuity.

Lastly, during 2021 and 2022 the legislation which 

establishes and gives powers to the new Approved 

Housing Bodies Regulatory Authority (AHBRA) will 

be commenced replacing a voluntary regulatory. CHI 

welcomes the establishment of the AHBRA, and will 

continue to improve our services to members, the  

standard of our homes, and our governance.

Challenges
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Statement of Board  
of Management Responsibilities
The board of management are responsible for preparing the board of 
management report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and regulations. 

The Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1893 to 2018 

requires the board of management to prepare financial 

statements for each financial year. Under that law they have 

elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance 

with FRS 102* The Financial Reporting Standard applicable 

in the UK and Republic of Ireland and applicable law.

Co-operative Housing Ireland Society Limited’s ("the 

Society”) financial statements are required by law to give a 

true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Society and of 

its surplus/deficit for that year.  

In preparing the financial statements, the board of 

management are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 

consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that  

are reasonable and prudent; 

• state whether applicable Accounting Standards have 

been followed, subject to any material departures 

disclosed and explained in the financial statements; 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern 

basis unless it is inappropriate to presume the Society  

will continue in business.

The board of management are responsible for keeping 

adequate accounting records which enable them to 

prepare financial statements of the Society in accordance 

with the requirements of the Industrial and Provident 

Societies Act 1893 to 2018. They are responsible for such 

internal controls as they determine are necessary to enable 

the preparation of financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 

and have general responsibility for taking such steps as 

are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of 

the Society and to prevent and detect fraud and other 

irregularities. 

The board of management are also responsible for 

preparing the Annual Report that complies with the 

requirements of the Industrial and Provident Societies Act 

1893 to 2018.

The board of management are responsible for the 

maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial 

information included on the Society’s website. Legislation 

in the Republic of Ireland governing the preparation and 

dissemination of financial statements may differ from 

legislation in other jurisdictions. 

 

On behalf of the Board of management

Carol Tancock  

Board Member

Pat Moyne 

Secretary

Pearse O’Shiel 

Chairperson  

• Pearse O’Shiel  

(Chairperson)

• Enda Egan 

(Vice-Chairperson)

• Carol Tancock 

• Lisa Kinsella Colman

• Frances Kawala

• Claire Ryan

• Derek Maher 

• Edmund O’Shea  

(retired 17 October 2020)

• Kim Byrne  

(retired 17 October 2020)

• Kim Olin  

(retired 17 October 2020)

• John Power  

(retired 17 October 2020)

• Kenneth Hanrahan  

(appointed 17 October 2020)

• Cinnamon Blackmore 

(appointed 17 October 2020)

• Regina Coakley  

(appointed 17 October 2020)

• Enda McGuane  

(appointed 8 December 2020)

• Michael Collins  

(appointed 8 December 2020)

Board of Management

Legal and 
Administrative
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Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Co-operative 

Housing Ireland Society Limited ("the Society”) for the 

year ended 31 December 2020 set out on pages 66 to 86, 

which comprise the Income and expenditure account, the 

Statement of financial position, the Statement of changes 

in equity, and the Cash flow statement for the financial year 

ended 31 December 2020, and the related notes to the 

financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in 

the preparation of the financial statements is Irish law and 

accounting standards issued by the Financial Reporting 

Council including FRS 102 ‘The Financial Reporting 

Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ 

(Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland).

In our opinion, Co-operative Housing Ireland Society 

Limited’s financial statements:

• give a true and fair view in accordance with Generally 

Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland of the assets, 

liabilities and financial position of the Society as at 31 

December 2020 and of its financial performance for 

the financial year then ended; and 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with FRS 

102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the 

UK and Republic of Ireland.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 

Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) and 

applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards 

are further described in the ‘responsibilities of the auditor 

for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our 

report. We are independent of the Society in accordance 

with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 

audit of financial statements in Ireland, namely the Irish 

Auditing and Accounting Supervisory Authority (IAASA) 

Ethical Standard concerning the integrity, objectivity 

and independence of the auditor, and the ethical 

pronouncements established by Chartered Accountants 

Ireland, applied as determined to be appropriate in 

the circumstances for the entity. We have fulfilled our 

other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded 

that the directors’ use of going concern basis of accounting 

in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not 

identified any material uncertainties relating to events 

or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast 

significant doubt on the Society’s ability to continue as a 

going concern for a period of at least twelve months from 

the date when the financial statements are authorised for 

issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors 

with respect to going concern are described in the relevant 

sections of this report.

Independent auditor’s report  
to the members of  
Co-operative Housing Ireland 
Society Limited
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Other Matter
The financial statements of Co-operative Housing Ireland 

Society Limited for the financial year ended 31 December 

2019 were audited by KPMG who expressed an unmodified 

opinion on those financial statements on 12 May 2020.

Other information
The board of management are responsible for the other 

information presented in the Annual report together with 

the financial statements. The other information comprises 

the information included in the Directors’ report. The 

financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon do 

not comprise part of the other information. Our opinion 

on the financial statements does not cover the other 

information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit 

opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our 

responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 

so, consider whether the other information is materially 

inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 

obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies in the 

financial statements, we are required to determine whether 

there is a material misstatement in the financial statements 

or a material misstatement of the other information. If, 

based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 

there is a material misstatement of this other information, 

we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Our conclusions on the other matter on which we 

are required to report by the Industrial and Provident 

Societies Act 1893 to 2018 is set out below

As required by Section 13(2) of the Industrial and Provident 

Societies Act 1893 to 2018, we examined the balance sheets 

showing the receipts and expenditure, fund and effects of 

the Society, and verified the same with the books, deeds, 

documents, accounts and vouchers relating thereto, and 

found them to be correct, duly vouched, and in accordance 

with law.

Responsibilities of the management and 
those charged with governance for the 
financial statements
As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities 

statement set out on page 61, management is responsible 

for the preparation of the financial statements which give a 

true and fair view in accordance with Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice in Ireland, including FRS102, and 

for such internal control as they determine necessary to 

enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is 

responsible for assessing the Society’s ability to continue 

as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 

related to going concern and using the going concern 

basis of accounting unless the management either intends 

to liquidate the Society or to cease operations, or has no 

realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for 

overseeing the Society’s financial reporting process.

Responsibilities of the auditor for the 
audit of the financial statements
The auditor’s objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 

about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 

opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 

but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 

fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 

or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 

to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 

basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (Ireland), the 

auditor will exercise professional judgment and maintain 

professional scepticism throughout the audit. They will also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 

the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to 

those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 

resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 

from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 

intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 

override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 

to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 

purpose of expressing an opinion of the effectiveness of 

the Society’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use 

of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 

uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 

may cast significant doubt on the Society’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. If they conclude that 

a material uncertainty exists, they are required to 

draw attention in the auditor’s report to the related 

disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify their opinion. 

Their conclusions are based on the audit evidence 

obtained up to the date of the auditor’s report. However, 

future events or conditions may cause the Society to 

cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 

of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 

and whether the financial statements represent the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves a true and fair view.

The auditor shall communicate with those charged with 

governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 

including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 

may be identified during the audit.

The purpose of our audit work and to  
whom we owe our responsibilities
Our report is made solely to the Society’s members, as 

a body. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 

might state to the Society’s members those matters we are 

required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 

other purpose.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 

assume responsibility to anyone other than the Society and 

the Society’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this 

report, or for the opinions we have formed.

John Duffy 

for and on behalf of

Grant Thornton 

Chartered Accountants & Statutory 

Audit Firm 

13-18 City Quay 

Dublin 2

Date: 11th May 2021
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 Note 2020 2019

  € €  

Income   

Availability income and management  

& maintenance allowances 3 14,055,960 9,458,797

Rental income and service charges 4 9,114,078 7,797,959

Capital subsidies and grants amortised 5 7,249,749 7,224,975

Revenue based grants 6 752,449 517,866

Other income 7 87,613 328,767

     

Total income  31,259,849 25,328,364

     

Expenditure   

Housing and community services 8 (12,361,246) (11,179,820)

Depreciation 8 (9,604,256) (7,166,088)

     

Total expenditure  (21,965,502) (18,345,908)

    

Operating surplus  9,294,347 6,982,456

     

Interest payable and similar charges 10 (5,064,294) (3,069,179)

     

Surplus before taxation  4,230,053 3,913,277

   

Taxation 11 - -  

      

Surplus for the financial year  4,230,053 3,913,277

Income and expenditure 
account for the year ended 31 
December 2020

There was no other comprehensive income for 2020 (2019: €Nil).

All amounts relate to continuing operations.

The notes on pages 66 to 86 form part of these financial statements

Balance sheet
as at 31 December 2020

 Note 2020 2019

  € €

Fixed assets   

Co-operative housing properties 12 404,595,017 297,749,939

Other tangible assets 12 541,310 488,926

Investments 13 2,579 2,469

  405,138,906 298,241,334

Current assets   

Debtors 14 886,327 873,626

Cash at bank and in hand 15 13,235,381 11,721,845

  14,121,708 12,595,471

   

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 16 (6,617,303) (3,902,149)

     

Net current assets  7,504,405 8,693,322

     

Total assets less current liabilities  412,643,311 306,934,656

   

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 17 (363,878,048) (262,399,448)

     

Net assets  48,765,263 44,535,208

     

Capital and reserves   

Called up share capital 21 375 373

Designated reserve 22 2,599,000 -

Revenue reserve 22 46,165,888 44,534,835

  48,765,263 44,535,208

On behalf of the Board of management

Carol Tancock  

Board Member

Pat Moyne 

Secretary

Pearse O’Shiel 

Chairperson  

The notes on pages 66 to 86 form part of these financial statements
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  Revenue Designated   

 Share capital Reserves Reserve Total

 € € € €

At 1 January 2019 373 40,621,558 - 40,621,931

    

Total comprehensive income for the year    

Surplus for the year - 3,913,277 - 3,913,277

        

Total comprehensive income for the year - 3,913,277 - 3,913,277

        

Balance at 31 December 2019 373 44,534,835 - 44,535,208

    

Contributions by and distributions to owners    

Share capital issued during the year 2 - - 2

    

Total comprehensive income for the year    

Surplus for the year - 4,230,053 - 4,230,053

Transfer to designated reserve   (2,599,000) 2,599,000 -

        

Total comprehensive income for the year - 1,631,053 2,599,000 4,230,053

Balance at 31 December 2020 375 46,165,888 2,599,000 48,765,263

Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended  
31 December 2020

The notes on pages 66 to 86 form part of these financial statements

Cash flow statement  
for the year ended 31 December 2020

 Note 2020 2019

  € €

Cash flows from operating activities   

Surplus for the year  4,230,053 3,913,277

Adjustments for:   

Profit on disposal of Baggot street office  - (197,162)

Depreciation  9,604,256 7,166,088

Amortisation of capital loan subsidies and grants  (7,249,749) (7,224,975)

Interest payable and similar charges  5,064,294 3,069,179

Increase in debtors  (12,701) (107,030)

Increase/(decrease) in creditors  218,963 (1,246,339)

Interest paid  (3,968,389) (2,231,276)

     

Net cash generated from operating activities  7,886,727 3,141,762

     

Cash flows from investing activities   

Capital expenditure  (116,501,718) (62,009,184)

Re-categorisation of financial investment  (110) -

Net cash used in investing activities  (116,501,828) (62,009,184)

     

Cash flows from financing activities   

Loans drawn down  111,201,711 66,770,112

Repayment of borrowings  (2,956,460) (1,533,214)

Grants received  1,883,384 946,313

CALF loans refunded due to non-closures of projects  - (1,547,527)

Net proceeds from sale of Baggot Street  - 1,267,679

Share capital issued during the year  2 -

   

Net cash generated from financing activities  110,128,637 65,903,363

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  1,513,536 7,035,941

   

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  11,721,845 4,685,904

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December  13,235,381 11,721,845

The notes on pages 66 to 86 form part of these financial statements
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   Other  At 31st
 At 1 January    non-cash December 

 2019 Cash flows  changes 2020

 € € € €

Cash at bank and in hand   11,721,845    1,513,536    13,235,381 

Debt falling due within one year   2,545,314   (2,545,314)    5,041,505    5,041,505

Debt falling due after more than one   258,763,073   106,875,474    (7,068,039)   358,546,278

 273,030,232 104,330,160 (2,026,534) 376,823,164

Analysis  
of changes in Net Debt

The notes on pages 66 to 86 form part of these financial statements

Notes 
forming part of the financial statements

The notes on pages 66 to 86 form part of these financial statements

1 Accounting policies

Co-operative Housing Ireland Society Limited (“the Society”) 

is a Society limited by shares and incorporated and 

domiciled in Ireland. The Society is incorporated under the 

Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1893-2018.

These financial statements were prepared in accordance 

with Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial 

Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 

Ireland (“FRS 102”) as issued in August 2014. 

Judgements made by the directors, in the application of 

these accounting policies that have significant effect on the 

financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of 

material adjustment in the next year are discussed in note 

2.

The financial statements are presented in Euro (€).

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost 

basis. 

The accounting policies set out below have, unless 

otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods 

presented in these financial statements.

Going concern

The Board of management is satisfied that the Society will 

continue in operational existence for a period of at least 

12 months from the date of approval of these financial 

statements and on the basis, the financial statements have 

been prepared on a going concern basis.

Turnover

Turnover principally represents rental income and service 

charges from tenants and revenue grants receivable from 

local authorities and other bodies. Turnover is recognised 

when the terms and conditions of receipt are met. Income 

also includes the amortisation of local authority financial 

assistance.

Expenses

(i)  Operating lease

Payments (excluding costs for services and insurance) 

made under operating leases are recognised in the 

Income and Expenditure account on a straight-line basis 

over the term of the lease unless the payments to the 

lessor are structured to increase in line with expected 

general inflation; in which case the payments related 

to the structured increases are recognised as incurred. 

Lease incentives received are recognised in Income and 

expenditure over the term of the lease as an integral part of 

the total lease expense.

(ii) Finance lease

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the 

finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding 

liability using the rate implicit in the lease. The finance 

charge is allocated to each period during the lease term 

so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on 

the remaining balance of the liability. Contingent rents 

are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are 

incurred.

(iii) Interest receivable and similar income 

Interest receivable and similar income include interest 

receivable on funds invested and net foreign exchange 

gains.

(iv) Interest payable and similar charges

Interest payable and similar charges include interest 

payable, finance charges on finance leases are recognised 

in Income and Expenditure using the effective interest 

method, unwinding of the discount on charges, and net 

foreign exchange losses that are recognised in the Income 

and expenditure account (see foreign currency accounting 

policy).

Interest income and interest payable are recognised in 

profit or loss as they accrue, using the effective interest 

rate method. Dividend income is recognised in the profit 

and loss account on the date the entity’s right to receive 

payments is established. Foreign currency gains and losses 

are reported on a net basis.

Employee benefits

(i) Defined contribution plans and other long term 

employee benefits

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit 

plan under which the Society pays fixed contributions 

into a separate entity and has no legal or constructive 

obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for 
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the entity’s own equity instruments or is a derivative that 

will be settled by the entity exchanging a fixed amount of 

cash or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own 

equity instruments.

Classification of financial instruments issued by the Society 

(continued)

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds 

of issue are classified as a financial liability. Where the 

instrument so classified takes the legal form of the entity’s 

own shares, the amounts presented in these financial 

statements for called up share capital and share premium 

account exclude amounts in relation to those shares.

Basic financial instruments

(i) Trade and other debtors/creditors

Trade and other debtors are recognised initially at 

transaction price. Subsequent to initial recognition they 

are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method, less any impairment losses. Trade and other 

creditors are recognised initially at transaction price. If 

the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, for 

example if payment is deferred beyond normal business 

terms, then it is measured at the present value of future 

payments discounted at a market rate of interest for a 

similar debt instrument.

(ii) Interest-bearing borrowings classified as basic 

financial instruments

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair 

value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 

initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 

impairment losses.

(iii) Local authority financial assistance

Housing loans are advanced by local authorities, under 

the terms of individual mortgage deeds in respect of 

each property or housing scheme. These loans and the 

associated interest do not become repayable provided 

the specific conditions set out in the loan agreements are 

complied with.

The financial assistance is provided towards the costs 

incurred in providing rental dwellings and the provision of 

a service in accordance with the Capital Loan and Subsidy 

Scheme, Capital Assistance Scheme and Capital Advance 

Leasing Facility financing Scheme.

Capital Loan and Subsidy Scheme

Amounts received from local authorities in relation to the 

Capital Loan and Subsidy Scheme are recognised when 

the facility is drawn down and amortised over the useful 

life of the associated capital expenditure towards which 

it is intended to contribute. The finance cost of the loan/

mortgage is allocated to periods over the 30 year term 

of the loan/mortgage at a constant rate on the carrying 

amount. In some instances, local authority loans are 

secured by 20 year mortgages over certain CHI housing 

properties. The subsidy in relation to the notional interest 

charge on the financial assistance is netted off against the 

interest charge, with the offsetting amounts being disclosed 

in the notes to the financial statements.

Capital Advance Leasing Facility financing

Amounts received from local authorities in relation to 

Capital Advance Leasing Facility financing are recognised 

when the facility is drawn down. The loan and associated 

accrued interest is repayable at the end of the term of 

the agreement, being 25 years. Interest accrues on the 

capital balance drawn down at a rate of 2% per annum. 

The interest expense is charged annually to the Income 

and expenditure account and accrued as part of the loan 

balance.

(iv) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances 

and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on 

demand and form an integral part of the Society’s cash 

management are included as a component of cash and 

cash equivalents for the purpose only of the cash flow 

statement.

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with 

financial institutions repayable without penalty on notice of 

not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly liquid 

investments that mature in no more than three months 

from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible 

to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change 

in value.

contributions to defined contribution pension plans are 

recognised as an expense in the Income and expenditure 

account in the periods during which services are rendered 

by employees.

(ii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when 

the Society is demonstrably committed, without realistic 

possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either 

terminate employment before the normal retirement date, 

or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer 

made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination 

benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognised as 

an expense if the Society has made an offer of voluntary 

redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, 

and the number of acceptances can be estimated reliably. 

If benefits are payable more than 12 months after the 

reporting date, then they are discounted to their present 

value.

Taxation

The Society has been granted charitable exemption by 

the Revenue Commissioners and as a consequence is not 

subject to corporation tax.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Where parts of an item of tangible fixed assets have 

different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate 

items of tangible fixed assets, for example land is treated 

separately from buildings.

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether tangible 

fixed assets (including those leased under a finance lease) 

are impaired.

Depreciation is charged to the Income and expenditure 

account on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 

lives of each part of an item of tangible fixed assets. Leased 

assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term 

and their useful lives. Land is not depreciated.  

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

• Housing units 2% straight line

• Housing in course of planning  

 or construction No depreciation

• Office buildings 2% straight line

• Equipment and fittings  14.33% - 33% straight line

• Motor vehicles 20% straight line

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are 

reviewed if there is an indication of a significant change 

since the last annual reporting date in the pattern by which 

the Society expects to consume an asset’s future economic 

benefits.

Finance leases

Leases in which the entity assumes substantially all the 

risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset are 

classified as finance leases. All other leases are classified 

as operating leases. Leased assets acquired by way of 

finance lease are stated on initial recognition at an amount 

equal to the lower of their fair value and the present value 

of the minimum lease payments at inception of the lease, 

including any incremental costs directly attributable to 

negotiating and arranging the lease. At initial recognition 

a finance lease liability is recognised equal to the fair 

value of the leased asset or, if lower, the present value of 

the minimum lease payments. The present value of the 

minimum lease payments is calculated using the interest 

rate implicit in the lease. Lease payments are accounted for 

as described under Expenses below.

Classification of financial instruments issued by the 

Society

In accordance with FRS 102.22, financial instruments issued 

by the Society are treated as equity only to the extent that 

they meet the following two conditions: 

• they include no contractual obligations upon the 

Society to deliver cash or other financial assets or to 

exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another 

party under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to 

the Society; and 

• where the instrument will or may be settled in the 

entity’s own equity instruments, it is either a non-derivative 

that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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2 Accounting estimates and judgements

Preparation of financial statements requires management 

to make significant judgements and estimates. The items 

in the financial statements where key judgements and 

estimates have been made include:

Useful life of depreciable assets

The Board of management is required to determine an 

appropriate period for the estimated useful lives of the 

tangible asset balance. In determining these useful lives 

management consider patterns of consumption, physical 

condition and expected economic utilisation of the assets. 

Changes in the estimated useful life of tangible fixed assets 

could have a significant impact on the annual depreciation 

charge.

Allowance for bad debts arising on rental income

The Board of management is required to annually estimate 

a bad debt provision for rental amounts due but not 

received at the balance sheet date. As at 31 December 

2020 the Board of management has determined that 

no bad debt provision is required based on the Society’s 

experience of bad debts incurred to date and the best 

available facts and circumstances

Government grants

Government grants are included within accruals and 

deferred income in the balance sheet and credited to the 

profit and loss account over the expected useful lives of 

the assets to which they relate or in periods in which the 

related costs are incurred.

Impairment

Financial assets (including trade and other debtors)

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit 

or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine 

whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A 

financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates 

that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition 

of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect 

on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be 

estimated reliably.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured 

at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between 

its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated 

future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective 

interest rate. For financial instruments measured at cost less 

impairment an impairment is calculated as the difference 

between its carrying amount and the best estimate of the 

amount that the entity would receive for the asset if it were 

to be sold at the reporting date. Interest on the impaired 

asset continues to be recognised through the unwinding of 

the discount. Impairment losses are recognised in Income 

and Expenditure. When a subsequent event causes the 

amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease 

in impairment loss is reversed through Income and 

Expenditure.

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the entity’s non-financial assets, 

are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether 

there is any indication of impairment. Where there is any 

indication that an asset may be impaired, the carrying value 

of the asset (or cash-generating unit to which the asset has 

been allocated) is tested for impairment. 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 

which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 

amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 

(or CGU’s) fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are 

grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 

identifiable cash flows (CGUs). Non-financial assets that 

have been previously impaired are reviewed at each 

reporting date to assess whether there is any indication 

that the impairment losses recognised in prior periods may 

no longer exist or may have decreased.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the 

entity has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 

result of a past event, that can be reliably measured and 

it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation. Provisions are recognised 

at the best estimate of the amount required to settle the 

obligation at the reporting date.

Reserves Policy 

CHI adopted a new Reserves policy effective from 2020 

onwards which developed two categories of Reserves:

(i) Revenue Reserves 

The Society retain a level of revenue reserves which reflects 

its needs at the current time and in the foreseeable future. 

The reserves are sufficient to meeting, as a minimum, the 

running costs for a period of 12 months net of contractually 

committed State backed Payment and Availability income. 

Annually the Board reviews the adequacy of the amount 

and period amending it, where necessary, to reflect 

changing needs. 

(ii) Designated Reserve 

Reserve has been created for future investment in stock 

Condition or major repairs expenditure. The Society 

retain a level of designated reserves in cash backed form. 

The designated reserves are sufficient to meeting as a 

minimum the following year’s budgeted stock condition 

or major repairs. On an ongoing basis the Board aims 

to generate a surplus on operations which will allow for 

augmentation of the CHI designated reserves. 
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3 - Availability income and management & maintenance allowances 2020 2019

 € €

   

Payment and Availability agreements  13,401,910 8,814,655

Management and maintenance allowance 654,050 644,142

 14,055,960 9,458,797

  

4  - Rental income and other charges to tenants 2020 2019

 € €

   

Rental income 8,751,014 7,416,977

Service charges and other charges to tenants 363,064 380,982

 9,114,078 7,797,959

    

5 - Capital subsidies and grants amortised 2020 2019

 € €

Amortisation of capital loans and grant subsidies 7,249,749 7,224,975

     

6  - Revenue based grants and subsidies  2020 2019

 € €

DCYA – POBAL CSS scheme 1 158,577 250,977

Childcare government wage subsidy scheme 218,124 -

DCYA –ECCE grant 2 157,215 172,839

Other childcare grants 87,257 -

DCYA- POBAL NCS scheme 3 73,494 -

DCYA – CDI grant 4 38,942 38,639

DoHPLG – Social Partnership Funding 5  18,840 18,840

DoHPLG – Pobal SSNO Scheme 6 - 36,571

 752,449 517,866

     

   

6  – Revenue based grants and subsidies (continued) 

1 DCYA Childcare Subvention Grant (CSS scheme)

2 DCYA Early Childcare and Education Programme (ECCE)

3 DCYA Childcare Subvention Grants ( CSS & NCS)

4 DCYA – POBAL Childhood Development Initiative Grant (CDI)

5 DoHPLG – Social Partnership Funding to assist role as a member of the C&V pillar

6 DoHPLG – POBAL (SSNO) Scheme to Support National Organisations in the Community  

 and Voluntary Sector. The period covered is 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2019

7 - Other income 2020 2019

 € €

Childcare fee income 86,538 115,379

Other  1,075  16,226

Profit on disposal of Baggot Street Office (Note 12) - 197,162

 87,613 328,767

8 - Operating costs 2020 2019

 € €

Staff costs (note 9) 4,159,509 3,732,481

Housing management, support, repairs and maintenance 4,991,761 4,406,061

Operating lease payments 2,575,980 2,364,458

Insurance costs 334,255 309,229

Legal and professional fees 200,755 297,479

Sundry expenses 48,232 34,442

Auditors’ remuneration (inclusive of VAT) 50,754 35,670

 12,361,246  11,179,820

   

Depreciation charge (note 12) 9,604,256 7,166,088

     

Total operating costs 21,965,502 18,345,908

     

Included in housing management, support and related costs above is an amount of €6,299 (2019: 

€17,142) representing amounts paid for Board expenses and training. Of this €1,114 (2019: €2,620) relate 

to expenses disbursed to Board of Management members.
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9 - Staff costs (continued)

Pension costs

The Society operates a defined contribution scheme which matches employees’ contributions to a maximum of 8% 

of annual salary. This employer contribution was increased from 5% to 8% from April 2016 onwards. The pension 

expense of €165,090 during the current year (2019: €176,937) represents contributions made by the Society to the 

fund. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Society in an independently administered fund. 

Amounts payable to the scheme at year end totalled to €Nil (2019: €Nil).

10 - Interest payable and similar charges  2020 2019 

 € €

   

Interest payable on bank loans and other borrowings  5,064,294 3,069,179

     

11 - Tax on surplus on ordinary activities

The Society has been granted charitable exemption by the Revenue Commissioners and as a consequence  

is not subject to corporation tax.

   

9 - Staff costs 2020 2019 

 Number Number 

 

Average monthly number of employees 84 76

   

 2020 2019 

 € €

Staff costs:   

Wages and salaries 3,610,983 3,154,027

Social security costs 343,610 314,869

Other pension costs  165,090 176,937

Temporary staff costs 39,826 86,648

 4,159,509 3,732,481

     

A total of 11 employees (2019: 11) had an annual salary is in excess of €60,000 as follows:

Salary bands 2020 2019

 Number of Number of 

 employees Employees

€60,001 - €70,000 5 5 

€70,001 - €80,000 1 1

€80,001 – €90,000 1 1

€90,000 – €100,000 2 2

Over €100,000 2 2

Amounts shown in the table above includes basic salary and excludes benefits in kind and pension contributions. 

For the purposes of classifying individuals within the bands remuneration, amounts have been annualised as 

though all relevant individuals were in employment for 12 months.

Total remuneration of key management personnel in the year amounted to €563,003 (2019: €557,899) which 

included Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration amounting to €133,829 (2019: €130,692) in the year, inclusive of 

benefits in kind.
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12 - Tangible fixed assets  Housing in 
  course of 
 Housing planning or Office Fixtures & IT Motor 
 units construction buildings Fittings Equipment vehicles Total 
 € € € € € € €

Cost       

At 1 January 2020 347,036,410 6,194,379 335,723 635,761 630,876 291,904 355,125,053

Additions 114,272,217 1,798,805 48,236 204,914 177,546 - 116,501,718

               

At 31 December 2020 461,308,627  7,993,184   383,959  840,675 808,422 291,904 471,626,771

               
Depreciation

At 1 January 2020 56,010,145 - 6,715 423,175 272,517 173,636 56,886,188

Charge for the year 9,270,587 - 7,679 127,560 161,685 36,745 9,604,256

               

At 31 December 2020 65,280,732 - 14,394 550,735 434,202 210,381 66,490,444

               

Net book value At 31 December 2020  396,027,895   7,993,184   369,565  289,940 374,220 81,523 405,136,327

               

At 31 December 2019 291,026,265 6,194,379 329,008 212,585 358,359 118,268 298,238,865

               

12 - Tangible fixed assets (continued)

Refer to note 17 for details on fixed assets which have been charged as security for bank loans.

1  The total balance of housing and land and housing in course of planning or construction which forms part  

of the co-operative housing properties is €404,021,079 (2019: €297,220,644)

2  Office buildings, equipment and fittings and motor vehicles totalling to €1,115,248 (2019: €1,018,221) are fixed 

assets of the Society which do not form part of the co-operative housing stock.

13 - Fixed assets investment Investments in societies

 €

Cost 

At 1 January 2020 2,469

Re-categorisation of fixed asset investment 110

    

At 31 December 2020 2,579

Net book value 

At 31 December 2020  2,579

At 31 December 2019 2,469

The Society holds investments of 100% of the share capital in the following entities:

• South Leinster Co-operative Housing Society Limited 

• Connacht Co-operative Housing Society Limited

14 - Debtors: Amounts due within one year 2020 2019 

 € €

Rental income receivable 335,581 491,031

Service income charges due  115,146 92,896

Prepayments 67,042 52,195

Accrued income 232,104 106,536

Other debtors 136,454 130,970

 886,327 873,628

  

   

15 - Cash and cash equivalents 2020 2019 

 € €

   

Cash at bank and in hand 13,235,381 11,721,845

      

Cash at bank and in hand at year end includes €2,599,000 in respect of designated reserves.
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16 - Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 2020 2019 

 € €

   

Bank loans (ii) 5,041,505 2,545,314

Trade creditors 385,013 403,945

Accruals 396,617 262,503

Deferred income - Rent 622,410 445,596

VAT 63,317 48,539

PAYE/PRSI 100,384 191,632

Other taxes 8,057 4,620

 6,617,303  3,902,149

     

Trade creditors and accruals are payable at various dates over the coming months in accordance with the suppliers’ 

usual and customary credit terms.

The terms of deferred income are based on their underlying contract.

Other taxes including PAYE/PRSI are payable at various dates over the coming months in accordance with the 

applicable statutory provisions. 

17 - Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 2020 2019 

 € €

   

Local authority financial assistance (i) 166,729,586 151,273,663

Bank loans (ii) 191,816,692 107,489,410

Deferred income – capital grants (Note 18) 5,331,770 3,636,375

 363,878,048 262,399,448

  

   

17 - Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (continued)

(i) Local authority financial assistance

Housing loans are secured by specific charges on the Society’s land and housing properties. No capital or  

interest repayments are required to be made on the above loans provided that the Society continues to comply with 

certain specific requirements of the local authorities with regard to the properties for which housing loans have been 

provided.

The local authority financial assistance balance is broken down as follows:

 2020 2019 

 € €

   

Capital Loan and Subsidy Scheme (“CLSS”) financing (a) 92,386,932 99,448,693

Capital Advance Leasing Facility (“CALF”) financing (b) 74,342,654 51,824,970

 166,729,586 151,273,663

     

(a) Capital Loan and Subsidy Scheme financing

The capital mortgage repayments and associated interest arising on the loans are settled on the Society’s  

behalf by way of a subsidy. The Society does not charge the interest accruing on the loans to its income and 

expenditure account as the cost is met through the subsidy scheme. The interest expense accruing on the loans 

for the current year was €1,984,882 (2019: €2,055,273). Amounts drawn down under the scheme in the current year 

were €Nil (2019: €Nil). The Society amortises the capital balance to its income and expenditure account over 30 years 

based on the superior loan agreements between the Housing Finance Agency (HFA) and the local authorities. The 

local authorities have secured mortgages on CHI housing properties ranging in periods from  

20 to 30 years.

(b) Capital Advance Leasing Financing

Amounts drawn down under the Capital Advance Leasing Financing scheme are repayable at the end of 25 years 

from the date of drawdown, subject to the Society complying with other terms and conditions. Interest accrues at a 

rate of 2% per annum and this has been charged to the Society’s income and expenditure account.

(ii)  Bank loans 2020 2019

 € €

The repayment profile of the bank loans is as follows:  

Amounts due within one year 5,041,504 5,272,665

Amounts due within one to two years 2,545,314 2,647,060

Amounts due two to five years 18,914,819 9,933,900

Amounts due greater than five years 167,629,208 94,908,450

   196,858,196 110,034,724

Of the total bank loans outstanding, €158,298,708 (2019: €89,758,407) relates to loans from the Housing Finance Agency.
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17 - Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (continued)

Security

Bank of Ireland holds mortgages over units at Auburn Lodge, Killiney, Co. Dublin.

Bank of Ireland holds mortgages over all units in Rathnew, Wicklow.

Bank of Ireland holds mortgages over all units in Phase 1 & 2 Modus, Loughlion, Kildare.

The Housing Finance Agency holds a charge over all properties financed by it.

18 - Deferred income – capital grants  2020 2019 

 € €

   

Balance at 1 January 3,636,375 2,853,369

Amounts received 1,883,384 946,313

Amortised during the year (187,989) (163,307)

Balance at 31 December 5,331,770 3,636,375

     

   

19 - Commitments 2020 2019 

 € €

   

Capital  

Capital expenditure which has been contracted for but  

has not been provided in the financial statements 222,857,744 96,733,033

Committed to but not contracted or provided for  

in these financial statements 25,064,765 105,445,018

 247,922,509 202,178,051

     

   

19 - Commitments (continued)

Operating leases

At the balance sheet date, the Society had remaining commitments under non-cancellable operating leases in respect 

of housing units as set out below.

 2020 2019 

 € €

Within one year 2,738,160 2,630,810

Between one to five years   10,916,383 10,523,242

More than five years  31,687,117 34,592,608

 45,341,660 47,746,660

     

During the year €2,575,980 was recognised as an expense in the profit and loss account in respect of operating leases 

(2019: €2,364,458).

The Society is party to a number of operating leases with local authorities for housing units and apartments. Under 

the terms of these lease agreements, the Society is not required to make lease payments to the local authorities but 

is responsible for the maintenance and associated costs on the units which it expenses to its income and expenditure 

account. 

The Society entered into a new lease in 2019 for the office premise at Warrington Place, Dublin 2.

20 - Related party transactions

Details of expenses paid to members of the Board of management are set out in note 8. There were no other related 

party transactions entered into by the Society in 2020.

21 - Share Capital Ordinary Ordinary 

 Shares shares 

 2020 2019

   

Share capital Number of shares Issued shares  

 375 373

 2020 2019 

 € €

Allotted, called up and fully paid 

375 (2019: 373) ordinary shares of €1 each 375 373

     

As at 31 December 2020, there were 15 members (2019: 13), whose guarantee is limited to €1 per share.
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22 - Reserves 2020 2019 

 € €

  

Revenue reserve 46,165,888 44,534,835

Designated reserve 2,599,000 -

 48,764,888 44,534,835

     

23 - Subsequent events

There have been no significant events affecting the Society since the end of the financial year.

24 - Comparative information

 Prior year information has been reclassified where necessary to conform with current year presentation. 

25 - Approval of financial statements

The Board of management approved the financial statements on 11th May 2021.

Term  Definition

Affordable Housing  A term for social rented, affordable rented and intermediate housing, 

provided to eligible households whose needs are not met by the market.

AHB Approved Housing Body

Amortisation An accounting term for the practice of spreading the repayment of a loan or 

grant benefit over a specific time frame.

Capital Advance Leasing Facility (CALF) An upfront typically subordinated loan provided by the Local Authority 

to the AHB for up to 30% of the social housing unit’s cost of acquisition/

construction.

Glossary of Financial Terms 

Term  Definition 

Capital Loans and Subsidy Scheme (CLSS) In the past, Ireland’s social housing was financed entirely by the Capital 

Loans and Subsidy Scheme (CLSS) which are described in the financial 

statements as Local Authority Financial Assistance. These loans provided 

up to 100% of the cost of acquisition or building of social housing units. 

This form of loan remained payable in full for the life of the loans but 

on maturity of the loans, provided certain conditions are met e.g. the 

accommodation continues to be let to eligible categories of persons and 

is properly maintained, the loans and interest (where applicable, typically 

the interest rate is zero) were relieved in full. Post the economic crisis, this 

model of funding the full cost of new social housing through expanding the 

government balance sheet was no longer sustainable.

Debt Service Cover  Earnings (EBITDA) as a percentage of Interest and Capital Repayments. 

Depreciation An accounting term for the allocation or write off of an asset over its useful 

life to show how much of an asset’s value has been used up.

Differential Rent  This is the affordable rent paid directly by the tenant member to the AHB. 

Indicatively, the differential rent is equal to 15% of the tenant members 

earnings.

EBITDA Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation.

EBITDA Margin  EBITDA expressed as per centage of Total Income (Less Amortisation).

Gearing Ratio Loans expressed as a percentage of the Historic Cost of Properties 

HFA  Housing Finance Agency

Housing Alliance  A collaboration of six of Ireland’s largest AHBs : Circle Voluntary Housing, 

Cluid Housing, Co-operative Housing Ireland, Oaklee Housing, Respond and 

Tuath Housing.

Liquidity Ratio  Debtors plus Cash expressed as a percentage of current Liabilities. 

Payment & Availability Agreement (P&A) An Agreement between made between the Local Authority and the AHB 

where the Local Authority undertakes to make an annual payment to the 

AHB for making the housing units available for social housing tenants from 

the Local Authority social housing list.

Stock Condition Survey reports providing condition survey of the properties under AHB 

ownership, furnishing essential information as to their state of repair and 

allowing for the planning of any future maintenance and investment 

requirements. Leasehold interests may also form part of the stock condition 

surveys. This not only helps organisations to identify any major defects that 

could be harmful to residents or result in long-term damage to the building, 

but also assists with the general maintenance of their properties to a good 

standard on a day to day basis.

The definitions above are intended to help the reader and accordingly do not purport to be legal interpretations.
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